



www.fems-microbiology.org

# The use of bacterial spore formers as probiotics

Huynh A. Hong, Le Hong Duc, Simon M. Cutting \*

School of Biological Sciences, Royal Holloway University of London, Egham, Surrey TW20 0EX, UK Received 26 July 2004; received in revised form 6 October 2004; accepted 8 December 2004

First published online 16 December 2004

#### Abstract

The field of probiosis has emerged as a new science with applications in farming and aqaculture as alternatives to antibiotics as well as prophylactics in humans. Probiotics are being developed commercially for both human use, primarily as novel foods or dietary supplements, and in animal feeds for the prevention of gastrointestinal infections, with extensive use in the poultry and aquaculture industries. The impending ban of antibiotics in animal feed, the current concern over the spread of antibiotic resistance genes, the failure to identify new antibiotics and the inherent problems with developing new vaccines make a compelling case for developing alternative prophylactics. Among the large number of probiotic products in use today are bacterial spore formers, mostly of the genus Bacillus. Used primarily in their spore form, these products have been shown to prevent gastrointestinal disorders and the diversity of species used and their applications are astonishing. Understanding the nature of this probiotic effect is complicated, not only because of the complexities of understanding the microbial interactions that occur within the gastrointestinal tract (GIT), but also because Bacillus species are considered allochthonous microorganisms. This review summarizes the commercial applications of Bacillus probiotics. A case will be made that many Bacillus species should not be considered allochthonous microorganisms but, instead, ones that have a bimodal life cycle of growth and sporulation in the environment as well as within the GIT. Specific mechanisms for how Bacillus species can inhibit gastrointestinal infections will be covered, including immunomodulation and the synthesis of antimicrobials. Finally, the safety and licensing issues that affect the use of *Bacillus* species for commercial development will be summarized, together with evidence showing the growing need to evaluate the safety of individual Bacillus strains as well as species on a case by case by basis.

© 2004 Federation of European Microbiological Societies. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Bacillus; Probiotic; Spores; Immunomodulation

# Contents

1.	Introduction	814
2.	Commercial products	815
	2.1. Human products	815
	2.2. Animal products	817
	2.3. Aquaculture	818
3.	The natural habitat of Bacillus species	818
4.	The gut as a habitat for Bacillus species	818
	4.1. Humans	819

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 1784 443760; fax: +44 1784 434326. E-mail address: s.cutting@rhul.ac.uk (S.M. Cutting).

	4.2.	Mammals	819
	4.3.	Aquatic animals	819
	4.4.	Insects	819
5.	The f	Tate of ingested spores	820
	5.1.	Transit kinetics	820
	5.2.	Spore germination and proliferation	820
	5.3.	Resistance to intestinal fluids	821
	5.4.		822
	5.5.	Dissemination and intracellular fate	822
6.	In viv	vo studies addressing the efficacy of Bacillus probiotics	823
	6.1.	Human studies	823
	6.2.	Animal studies	823
	6.3.	Fish and shrimps	824
7.	Mech	anisms for probiosis	824
	7.1.	Immune stimulation	824
	7.2.	Synthesis of antimicrobials	825
	7.3.	Other mechanisms	826
8.	The S	Safety of Bacillus products	826
	8.1.	Infections associated with Bacillus species	826
	8.2.	Antibiotic resistance transfer	827
	8.3.	Virulence factors	828
	8.4.	Product mislabeling	828
	8.5.	Product licensing	829
9.		luding remarks	829
	Refer	rences	830

#### 1. Introduction

Probiosis, although not a new concept, has only recently begun to receive an increasing level of scientific interest. Probiotics are generally defined as 'live microbial feed supplements that can benefit the host by improving its intestinal balance' [1]. Probiotics fall under two broad classifications, those for animal use and those for human use. Probiotics used in animal feed are considered as alternatives to antibiotics (and therefore used as growth promoters). In 2000 Denmark banned the use of antibiotics as growth promoters in its pig industry and 2006 is the date proposed for a complete ban of antibiotics in animal feed within Europe [2]. A viable alternative to antibiotics would therefore be an important venture and for this reason the development of new probiotic products that could be licensed for animal use is receiving considerable interest. However, the transfer of antibiotic resistance traits between bacterial species is a cause for concern where large quantities of bacteria would be given to animals. In Europe it is estimated that to licence a new probiotic product for use in animal feed requires upwards of 1.4 million Euros [3]. Probiotics for human use, on the other hand, are subject to minimal restrictions (at least as novel foods or as dietary supplements) and come in many different forms. In supermarkets they are often sold as dairy-type products containing 'live bacteria' and in health food shops as

capsules or tablets composed of lyophilized preparations of bacteria which promote 'a healthy gut', etc. Finally, on the internet some products are being sold as quasimedicinal products which can be used for oral bacteriotherapy of gastrointestinal disorders (normally diarrhoea).

Currently, there is no universal 'class' of probiotic bacterium although the most common types available are lactic acid bacteria (e.g., Lactobacillus spp.). These bacteria are found normally in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) of humans and animals and there is the vague notion that the use of indigenous or commensal microorganisms is somehow restoring the natural microflora to the gut. A second class comprises those that are not normally found in the GIT. For example, Saccharomyces boulardii has been shown to be effective in preventing the recurrence of Clostridium difficile-induced pseudomembranous colitis [4] as well as the antagonistic action of Escherichia coli [5]. S. boulardii products are currently being marketed for human use. Within this group of allochthonous probiotic microbes are the spore-forming bacteria, normally members of the genus Bacillus. Here, the product is used in the spore form and thus can be stored indefinitely 'on the shelf'. The use of spore-based products raises a number of questions though. Since the bacterial species being used are not considered resident members of the gastrointestinal microflora how do they exert a beneficial effect? Because the natural life cycle of spore formers involves germination of the spore, proliferation and then re-sporulation when nutrients are exhausted, the logical question is whether it is the germinated spore (that is the vegetative cell) that produces the probiotic effect or is it the spore itself? If the former model is correct then it would suggest that probiotics show a unified mode of action involving the action of a live bacterium within the GIT. This review, based on published studies, will present the case that spore-forming bacteria can survive and, indeed, proliferate within the GIT of animals, Although it is unlikely that they are true commensals, a case will be made that many spore formers exhibit a unique dual life cycle of growth and survival in both the environment and within the gut of animals and it is this bimodal life cycle that could provide the basis of their probiotic effect.

This review will focus exclusively on the use of sporeforming bacteria as probiotics for human and animal use. For conciseness, with a few exceptions, this review will only report on studies relating to species used in existing commercial formulations and will cover their use in humans and animals, as well as in aquaculture. Finally, it should be mentioned that this review expands on two excellent reviews in this field [6,7].

# 2. Commercial products

A list of *Bacillus* probiotic products (probably not complete) is shown in Table 1 and these are discussed where appropriate in more detail throughout this review.

#### 2.1. Human products

Products fall into two major groups, those for prophylactic use and those sold as health food supplements or novel foods. Bona fide Bacillus species being used include, Bacillus subtilis, Bacillus cereus, Bacillus licheniformis, Bacillus pumilus, Bacillus clausii and Bacillus coagulans. Other spore-formers being used are Paenibacillus polymyxa and Brevibacillus laterosporus, both being former Bacillus species and now belonging to the Bacillus sensu lato group.

# 2.1.1. Prophylactics

These are marketed for prophylaxis of gastrointestinal disorders particulary child-hood diarrhoea (mainly rotavirus infections) or as an adjunct to antibiotic use. These products are available over the counter (OTC) and, very often, they have been recommended by a physician. Their use then, depends very much upon the national or local culture. For example, in the UK no probiotics for human use as prophylactics for gastrointestinal disorders are available, yet in Europe they are quite common with Italy being a major user. One of

the oldest products on the market and available in Italy since the 1950s is Enterogermina<sup>®</sup> which carries a mixture of four strains of antibiotic-resistant *B. clausii*, an alkaliphilic species able to tolerate high pH [7–14].

Another well-known product is Bactisubtil<sup>®</sup> which carries one strain of *B. cereus* termed IP5832 [7,8,12,14–17]. The same strain (labeled as CIP 5832) has been used in the animal feed product Paciflor<sup>®</sup> C10 that has recently been withdrawn due to the ability of this strain to produce two diarrhoea enterotoxins, Hbl and Nhe [18,19]. It remains unclear whether this product will remain in use for humans.

Biosporin® carries spores of two *Bacillus* species, *B. subtilis* and *B. licheniformis*. This product is manufactured in a number of former Eastern bloc countries and appears to have been well characterized (see Table 1; [16,17,20–25]). The *B. subtilis* component of Biosporin® (*B. subtilis* strain 3 or 2335) is known to produce an isocourmarin antibiotic, aminocoumacin A, active against *Heliobacter pylori* [26]. The *B. subtilis* strain from Biosporin® has been genetically modified to express interferon and a new product, Subalin, carrying this recombinant is licensed in Russia (currently for veterinary use) with claims of both anti-viral and antitumour activity [17,27–29].

In SE Asia there is a history of extensive antibiotic usage and it is common practice in developing countries within this region to use probiotics as an adjunct. Consequently, there are now a large number of products being produced, all of which carry poorly defined species; e.g., Biosubtyl 'Nha Trang' (*B. pumilus*) [12,30], Biosubtyl 'Da Lat' (*B. cereus*) [12,19], Subtyl (*B. cereus*) [12,19], and Bibactyl (*B. subtilis*), but with most carrying substantial resistance to antibiotics! South Korea produces one product termed 'Biscan' that carries spores of *B. polyfermenticus SCD* (an invalid species name) [31]. China and India are also producing different probiotic products (see Table 1) and the origin and status of these products appears to be poorly defined [6].

# 2.1.2. Health foods and dietary supplements

A large number of *Bacillus* products are used as 'novel foods' or as dietary supplements with various claims of 'enhancing' the well-being of the user, restoring the natural microflora to the gut, etc. Many of these products are sold over the internet and many carry poorly defined or invalid species (e.g., *Bacillus laterosporus*, *Lactobacillus sporogenes*). Some products carry mixtures of *Bacillus* species (e.g. Nature's First Food listing 42 species including 4 spore-forming species) [6].

It is worthwhile mentioning here the Japanese product Natto. Natto is a food made by fermenting cooked soybeans with *Bacillus subtilis (natto)* or *B. subtilis* var. *natto*. Natto has been shown to have probiotic properties and the *B. subtilis* var. *natto* component is thought to stimulate the immune system, produce vita-

Table 1 Commercial probiotic products containing *Bacillus* spores<sup>a</sup>

Product	Target	Manufacturer	Comments/References
AlCare™	Swine	Alpharma Inc., Melbourne, Australia www.alpharma.com.au/alcare.htm	B. licheniformis (NCTC 13123) at 10 <sup>9</sup> –10 <sup>10</sup> spores kg <sup>-1</sup> . This is a non-bacitracin producing strain. Not licensed in the EU [177].
Bactisubtil®	Human	Originally produced by Marion Merrell Dow Laboratories (Levallois-Perret, France) but also by Hoechst and then Aventis Pharma following merger acquisitions. Also cited as being produced	Capsule carrying $1 \times 10^9$ spores of <i>Bacillus cereus</i> strain IP $5832^b$ (ATCC 14893) [n.b., originally deposited as <i>B. subtlis</i> , 6,12,15,18].
BaoZyme-Aqua	Aquaculture- shrimps	by Casella-Med, Cologne, Germany. Sino-Aqua Corp., Kaohsiung, Taiwan www.sino-aqua.com	B. subtilis strains Wu-S and Wu-T at 10 <sup>8</sup> CFU g <sup>-1</sup> , product also contains Lactobacillus and Saccharomyces spp.
Bibactyl	Human	Tendiphar Corporation, Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam	Sachet (1g) carrying $10^7 - 10^8$ spores of <i>B. subtilis</i> .
Bidisubtilis	Human	Bidiphar. Binh Dinh Pharmaceutical and Medical Equipment Company, 498 Nguyen Thai Hoc, Qui Nhon, Vietnam	Labelled sachets carrying $1 \times 10^6$ spores of <i>B. subtilis</i> .
BioGrow <sup>®</sup>	Poultry, calves and swine	Provita Eurotech Ltd., Omagh, Northern Ireland, UK. http://www.provita.co.uk	Listed as containing spores of <i>B. licheniformis</i> $(1.6 \times 10^9 \text{ CFU g}^{-1})$ and <i>B. subtilis</i> $(1.6 \times 10^9 \text{ CFU g}^{-1})$ .
BioPlus 2B <sup>®</sup>	Piglets <sup>b</sup> , Chickens, turkeys for fattening <sup>c</sup>	Christian Hansen Hoersholm, Denmark http://www.chbiosystems.com	Mixture (1/1) of <i>B. licheniformis</i> (DSM 5749) and <i>B. subtilis</i> (DSM 5750) at $1.6 \times 10^9$ CFU g <sup>-1</sup> of each bacterium. EU approved <sup>c</sup> [42].
Biosporin <sup>®</sup>	Human	(1) Biofarm, Dniepropetrovsk, Ukraine	Biosporin <sup>®</sup> is a mixture of two strains of living antagonistic bacteria <i>B. subtilis</i> 2335 (sometimes referred to as <i>B. subtilis</i> 3) and <i>B. licheniformis</i> 2336 (ratio is 3:1). Originally isolated from animal fodder [15–17,20–26,182].
		(2) Garars, Russia.	There are a number of versions of this product produced in different countries including a recombinant form, Subalin [27–29,183].
Biostart®	Aquaculture	Microbial Solutions, Johannesburg, South Africa and Advanced Microbial Systems, Shakopee, MN, USA	Mixture of: B. megaterium, B. licheniformis, Paenibacillus polymyxa and two strains of B. subtilis [45].
Biosubtyl	Human	Biophar Company, Da lat, Vietnam	Sachet (1 g) carrying 10 <sup>6</sup> –10 <sup>7</sup> of <i>B. cereus</i> spores mixed with tapioca. Product labelled as <i>B. subtilis</i> . The strain is closely related by 16S rRNA analysis to IP 5832 used in Bactisubtil <sup>®</sup> [12,19].
Biosubtyl DL	Human	IVAC, 18 Le Hong Phong, Da Lat, Vietnam.	Sachets (1g) carrying 10 <sup>7</sup> –10 <sup>8</sup> CFU of B. subtilis and Lactobacillus acidophilus.
Biosubtyl	Human	Biophar Company, Nha Trang, Vietnam	Sachet (1 g) carrying $10^6$ – $10^7$ of $\tilde{B}$ . pumilus spores mixed with tapioca. Product labelled as $B$ . subtilis [11,12,19].
Biovicerin <sup>®</sup>	Human	Geyer Medicamentos S. A. Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil http://www.geyermed.com	B. cereus strain GM Suspension of 10 <sup>6</sup> spores ml <sup>-1</sup> .
Bispan®	Human	Binex Co. Ltd, Busan, S. Korea www.bi-nex.com	Tablet carrying spores $(1.7 \times 10^7)$ of <i>B. polyfermenticus</i> SCD <sup>d</sup> [31,79].
Domuvar	Human	BioProgress SpA, Anagni, Italy http://www.giofil.it	Vial carrying $1 \times 10^9$ spores of <i>Bacillus clausii</i> in suspension, labelled as carrying <i>B. subtilis.</i> No longer marketed [12].
Enterogermina <sup>®</sup>	Human	Sanofi Winthrop SpA, Milan, Italy www.automedicazione.it	Vial (5 ml) carrying 1 × 10 <sup>6</sup> spores of <i>B. clausii</i> in suspension. At least four different strains of <i>B. clausii</i> present and product originally labelled as carrying <i>B. subtilis</i> [7–14,19,141,184].
Esporafeed Plus®	Swine	Norel, S.A. Madrid, Spain	$1 \times 10^9$ <i>B. cereus</i> (CECT 953). Not licensed in the EU [43].
Flora-Balance	Human	Flora-Balance, Montana, USA www.flora-balance.com	Capsules labelled as carrying <i>Bacillus laterosporus</i> BOD <sup>d</sup> but containing <i>Brevobacillus laterosporus</i> BOD [6].
Lactipan Plus	Human	Istituto Biochimico Italiano SpA, Milan, Italy	Capsule carrying spores of <i>Bacillus subtilis</i> labelled as carrying $2 \times 10^9$ spores of <i>Lactobacillus sporogenes</i> <sup>d</sup> [12].

Table 1 (continued)

Product	Target	Manufacturer	Comments/References
Lactopure	Human Animal	Pharmed Medicare, Bangalore, India	Labelled as Lactobacillus sporogenes <sup>d</sup>
	feed	http://www.pharmedmedicare.com	but contains B. coagulans [6].
Lactospore	Human	Sabinsa Corp., Piscataway, NJ, USA	Labelled as carrying Lactobacillus
•		www.sabinsa.com	sporogenes <sup>d</sup> but contains <i>B. coagulans</i> $6-15 \times 10^9 \text{ g}^{-1}$ [6].
Liqualife <sup>®</sup>	Aquaculture	Cargill, Animal Nutrition Division www.cargill.com	Undefined <i>Bacillus</i> species [44].
Medilac	Human	Hanmi Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., Beijing, China http://www.hanmi.co.kr	B. subtilis strain RO179 (at $10^8 \text{ g}^{-1}$ ) in combination with Enterococcus faecium [6].
Nature's First Food	Human	Nature's First Law, San Diego, CA, USA	42 species listed as probiotics including:
		http://www.rawfood.com	B. subtilis, B.polymyxa <sup>d</sup> B.pumilus and B. laterosporus <sup>d</sup> [6].
Neoferm BS 10	Animals	Sanofi Sante Nutrition Animale, France	2 strains of <i>B. clausii</i> (CNCM MA23/3V and CNCM MA66/4M). Not licensed in the EU [185].
Neolactoflorene	Humans	Newpharma S.r.l., Milan, Italy	Mixture of lactic acid bacteria inc. L. acidophilus, B. bifidum and L.sporogenes <sup>d</sup> L.sporogenes at $3.3 \times 10^5$ CFU g <sup>-1</sup> whose valid name is B. coagulans is mislabelled and is a strain of B. subtilis [179].
Paciflor <sup>®</sup> C10	Calves, poultry, rabbits and swine	Intervet International B.V. Wim de Körverstraat 35 NL-5831 AN Boxmeer (NL)	B. cereus CIP5832 <sup>b</sup> (ATCC 14893) $2 \times 10^8 - 5 \times 10^9$ spores per dose dependant on target species. Withdrawn from production in 2002 [18].
Pastylbio	Humans	Pasteur Institute of Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam.	Sachets (1g) carrying 10 <sup>8</sup> spores of <i>B. subtilis</i> .
Primal Defense <sup>TM</sup>	Humans	Garden of Life®	14 bacterial components including
		http://www.thehomeostasisprotocol.com/mall/ Primal-defense/article3.htm	B. subtilis and B. licheniformis.
Promarine <sup>®</sup>	Aqaculture- shrimps	Sino-Aqua company Kaohsiung, Taiwan www.sino-aqua.com	Carries 4 strains of <i>B. subtilis</i> [151].
Subtyl	Human	Mekophar, Pharmaceutical Factory No. 24,	Capsule carrying 10 <sup>6</sup> –10 <sup>7</sup> spores of a
		Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam	B. cereus species termed B. cereus var vietnami. Product labelled as carrying B. subtilis [12,19].
Toyocerin <sup>®c</sup>	Calves, poultry, rabbits and swine. Possible use also for aquaculture	Asahi Vet S.A., Tokyo (Head Off.), Japan http://www.asahi-kasei.co.jp	B. cereus var toyoi (NCIMB-40112/CNCM-1012) at a minimun concentration of $1 \times 10^{10}$ CFU $g^{-1}$ mixed with maize flour (4% by weight) and calcium carbonate (90% by weight). Licensed in the EU <sup>e</sup> [41].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> This list is probably not complete and new products are being introduced or updated continuously.

min  $K_2$  and have anti-cancer properties [32–35]. The extensive use of this fermented food product in Japan and the widely held belief in its beneficial properties appears to support the concept of probiosis.

# 2.1.3. Therapeutic products

Bacillus probiotics are also being developed for topical and oral treatment of uremia. Kibow Biotech (Philadelphia, USA; www.kibowbiotech.com) is developing *B. coagulans* probiotics for the treatment of gastrointestinal infections based on a number of PCT patents (e.g., WO9854982). This concept is based, in part, on the ability of *B. coagulans* to secrete a bacteriocin, Coagulin, that has activity against a broad spectrum of enteric mi-

crobes [36] and published reports showing the beneficial effects of *Bacillus* probiotics on urinary tract infections [37].

# 2.2. Animal products

In Europe, by 1997, farming was the second largest consumer of antibiotics after the medical profession. Of this, almost one third were being used as feed supplements and the remaining two thirds being used for therapeutic applications. In 1997 avoparcin was banned for use in animals [38] followed, in 1999, by four further antibiotics (bacitracin, spiramycin, tylosin and virginiamycin) which were banned for use as feed supplements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Paciflor<sup>®</sup> and Bactisubtil<sup>®</sup> are thought to carry the same strain of *B. cereus* but are labelled differently as IP 5832 (Institute Pasteur, Bactisubtil<sup>®</sup>) and CIP 5832 (Paciflor<sup>®</sup>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Authorised by the EU for unlimited use.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Not officially recognised as a *Bacillus* species (www.bacterio.cict.fr).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> Authorised by the EU on a provisional basis.

in the EU following an assessment by the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition (SCAN) [39]. Only four antibiotics remain licensed for use in animal feed (bambermycin, avilamycin, salinomycin and monensin) and a complete ban on these is due to take effect in 2006 [2]. In the absence of antibiotic usage in animal feed good husbandry will become paramount, as well as a renewed interest in the development of animal vaccines. Other approaches are the use of prebiotics, probiotics and synbiotics. Prebiotics are non-digestible food ingredients that can stimulate the growth and metabolic activity of bacteria present in the colon [40] and synbiotics are a mixture of pre- and probiotics.

In the EU two Bacillus products are licensed for animal use, BioPlus® 2B and Toyocerin® (see Table 1) [41,42]. In the case of Toyocerin® this contains a strain of B. cereus var toyoi that has been deemed safe for animal use because of its failure to produce enterotoxins and its failure to transfer antibiotic resistance. On the other hand a number of Bacillus products have not been licensed or withdrawn completely, most notably, Paciflor<sup>®</sup> C10 that carried a toxin producing strain of *B. cer*eus (CIP 5832) and was considered a risk to human health [18]. Similarly, Esporafeed Plus® failed to satisfy SCAN that the B. cereus strain contained in the product did not produce enterotoxins [43]. In addition, this B. cereus strain was found to carry a tetracycline resistance gene, tetB, within its genome. Since tetB is normally located on a transposon its capacity to transfer this gene could not be ruled out.

# 2.3. Aquaculture

The use of *Bacillus* species in aquaculture is probably unfamiliar to most researchers in the Bacillus community, but it is a field that is expanding rapidly in countries with intensive farming of fish, and particularly shellfish (e.g., SE Asia) [44,45]. Cultured shrimps and prawns are now the fastest growing food production sector, with the black tiger shrimp (Penaeus monodon) being one of the most profitable ventures. Larval forms of most fish and shellfish are particularly sensitive to gastrointestinal disorders because they are released into the environment at an early stage before their digestive tract and immune system has fully developed [46]. In intensive farming the detritus that accumulates in a rearing pond can promote the growth and proliferation of pathogens and can have catastrophic impact on the resulting harvest. Economic losses due to disease can be substantial for those countries depending heavily on aquaculture for income and in 1996 alone were greater than US\$ 3 billion. Probiotic supplements that can treat larvae would therefore have a substantial impact on these losses. Shrimps have a non-specific immune response and vaccination (even if feasible) can only proshort-term protection against pathogens.

Probiotic treatments on the other hand provide broadspectrum protection. A number of commercial products carry Bacillus spores, for example, the biocontrol product Biostart<sup>®</sup> (see Table 1). There are three distinct uses of bacterial supplements in aquaculture, probiotics, biocontrol agents and as bioremediation agents. Bacillus spp. are being used as probiotics and as biocontrol agents since bacteria used for bioremediation are usually nitrifying bacteria and are used to degrade the detritus generated from fish and shellfish in rearing ponds. Biocontrol refers to the use of bacterial supplements that have an antagonistic effect on pathogens [44]. Bacillus species have been used as components of biocontrol products and often are composed of mixtures of Bacillus species (e.g., Biostart® and Liqualife®; see Table 1) [44]. Other commercial products that have been developed include the single species probiotic products, Toyocerin® and Paciflor<sup>®</sup> 9 [45,47]. Intriguingly, both of these products carry strains of B. cereus that are used commercially in animal feed and it is not clear whether these products are still in use. One effective strategy being used in developing countries is the isolation of *Bacillus* species from shrimp ponds and then using these as commercial products, one example of which is the product PF used in shrimp feed and containing a Bacillus species labeled S11 [48].

#### 3. The natural habitat of *Bacillus* species

Bacillus species are saprophytic Gram-positive bacteria common in soil, water, dust and air [49]. They are also involved in food spoilage (e.g., spoilage of milk by *B. cereus* strains [50]). These bacteria are considered allochthonous and enter the gut by association with food.

# 4. The gut as a habitat for Bacillus species

Since spores of Bacillus species can readily be found in the soil, one might assume that the live (vegetative) bacteria that produced these spores are also soil inhabitants. This, however, is proving an unfounded assumption and, of course, the ability of spores to be dispersed in dust and water means that spores can be found almost everywhere. So, where they are found does not indicate their natural habitat (for an interesting review on this subject see [49]). Careful examination of the literature reveals that Bacillus spore-forming species are commonly found in the gut of animals and insects and experimentally this is often demonstrated by faecal sampling. The presence of *Bacillus* species, whether as spores or vegetative cells, within the gut could arise from ingestion of bacteria associated with soil. However, a more unified theory is now emerging in which Bacillus species exist in an endosymbiotic relationship with their host, being able temporarily to survive and proliferate within the GIT. In some cases though, the endosymbiont has evolved further into a pathogen, exploiting the gut as its primary portal of entry to the host (*B. anthracis*) or as the site for synthesis of enterotoxins (*B. cereus*, *B. thuringiensis*) [51].

#### 4.1. Humans

Bacillus species are often identified in large numbers within the gut far above what might be expected if these species were derived from ingested plant matter. The dominant bacteria found in the small and large intestine are species of Lactobacilli, Streptococci, Enterobacteria, Bifidobacteria, Bacterioides and Clostridia, yet Bacillus species also exist here. For example, in a study of human faeces, Bacillus species (listed as B. subtilis and B. lichen*iformis*) were isolated in numbers of between  $5 \times 10^3$  and  $5 \times 10^6$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> faeces [52]. In comparison, this study identified Bacteriodes spp. at between 10<sup>11</sup>-10<sup>12</sup> CFU  $g^{-1}$  and Streptococci at  $10^3-10^{10}$  CFU  $g^{-1}$ . In another study, B. subtilis was identified in high numbers in both elderly persons and infants [53,54]. Other examples of Bacillus species that are known to be able to survive in the human GIT are two members of the Bacillus cereus sensu lato species group, B. anthracis and B. cereus [51]. In the case of B. anthracis ingestion of spores will lead to gastrointestinal anthrax following uptake of spores into the GALT followed by germination and subsequent proliferation and dissemination [55]. B. cereus is a well known cause of food poisoning producing two distinct types, a diarrhoea and an emetic type syndrome [50]. If sufficient numbers of spores are ingested this can lead to a short-term illness and the dose has been determined as  $10^5 - 10^7$  g<sup>-1</sup> of ingested food for the diarrhoea syndrome and  $10^5-10^8$  g<sup>-1</sup> for the emetic syndrome [56]. Both types of food poisoning result from the action of enterotoxins into the lumen of the GIT and the emetic type is due to the ingestion of preformed toxin [56,57]. B. cereus is frequently found in faecal samples [58,59] and the faecal abundance of B. cereus appears to fluctuate according to the diet and its presence in food products (e.g., rice, pasta and milk); so, at most, it may be a transitory resident of the gut microflora. B. cereus isolates (most probably B. thuringiensis) have also been recovered in the faeces of greenhouse workers working with, and exposed to, B. thuringiensis biopesticides [60].

# 4.2. Mammals

Using a mouse model fed with a controlled diet, analysis of 16S rRNA libraries of total genomic DNA repeatedly identified *Bacillus mycoides* (a member of the *Bacillus cereus sensu lato* species group) in samples of the small intestine [61]. *B. thuringiensis*, also a mem-

ber of the *Bacillus cereus sensu lato* species group, has been found in the faeces of wild animals in Japan and Korea [62,63]. One of the most unusual spore-formers found in the gut is *Metabacterium polyspora*, a large, anerobic Gram-positive spore-forming bacterium found only in the guinea pig [64]. The life cycle of this bacterium is intimately coupled with its passage through the GIT, involving germination of spores in the small intestine and then binary division coupled with the formation of multiple spore progeny. Spores excreted in the faeces enter the guinea pig gut by coprophagia and, indeed, this bacterium cannot be cultured outside its host. Most likely, other new types of unculturable strains exist that exhibit a *M. polyspora*-type life cycle in other coprophagic animals.

# 4.3. Aquatic animals

There are numerous reports of *Bacillus* species being isolated from fish and crustaceans, as well as shrimps [44]. It is important to remember that *Bacillus* spp. will be found at the bottom of ponds, lakes and rivers and many fish, crustaceans and shellfish will ingest *Bacillus* from this organic matter. Even so, *Bacillus* species are recovered from the GIT of aquatic animals with remarkable ease. They have been isolated from fish, crustaceans, bivalves and shrimps [44] and have been found in the microflora of the gills, skin and intestinal tract of shrimps [65]. In this laboratory, we have identified at least 12 *Bacillus* species from the gut of shrimps (*Penaeus monodon*) found in commercial shrimp farms in Vietnam (unpublished data).

#### 4.4. Insects

Members of the Bacillus cereus sensu lato species group are frequently found in invertebrates. B. cereus has been identified in the gut of numerous insects, including aphids, mosquito larvae and cockroaches [51,66] and in certain arthropods this organism exists in a special filamentous or 'Arthromitus' stage within the intestine [67]. B. cereus as well as B. mycoides in the vegetative form has also been found in abundance in the gut of the earthworm (cited in [51]). B. anthracis has been found in the faeces of tabaniid flies (various horse and deer flies) and this is believed to help disseminate and transmit anthrax [68]. B. thuringiensis is considered an insect pathogen due to its unique ability to produce large crystal protein inclusions during sporulation. These inclusions have biopesticide activity and are active against larvae from different insect orders including Lepidopetera, Diptera and Coleoptera [51]. B. thuringiensis does not grow in the soil, yet its presence there is believed to arise from insect deposition and it has been shown to proliferate in the earthworm gut [69]. It has been suggested that members of the B. cereus sensu lato

species group possess two life cycles, one where the bacteria live in a symbiotic relationship with their invertebrate host and a second life cycle where they can proliferate in a second invertebrate or vertebrate host [51]. Other *Bacillus* species found in the gut of insects include *B. licheniformis*, *B. cereus*, *B. sphaericus*, *B. circulans*, *B. megaterium*, *B. alvei* and *B. pumilus* [70–73]. As well as *B. thuringiensis* a number of other spore formers are insect pathogens that gain entry to the host via the GIT, these include *Paenibacillus larvae* (formerly *Bacillus larvae*) that infects domestic honeybees [74] and two species that produce parasporal crystals and are pathogenic to larvae of various *Coleoptera*, *Paenibacillus popillae* (formerly *Bacillus popillae*) and *Paenibacillus lentimorbus* (formerly *Bacillus lentimorbus*) [75].

# 5. The fate of ingested spores

What happens to spores following ingestion? Bacterial spores might be treated as a food and be broken down in the stomach and small intestine by the action of intestinal enzymes. Spores, though, are inherently robust bioparticles so it might be predicted that a large percentage survive the stomach, transit the GIT and are finally excreted in the faeces. Of course, this assumption is based on the notion that (i) most *Bacillus* species are facultative aerobes and so could not proliferate in the GIT, and (ii) most *Bacillus* species have no normal interaction with the GIT since they are soil organisms.

#### 5.1. Transit kinetics

Experimentally it is possible to examine the fate of spores following ingestion. In humans this study has been performed using four volunteers who had been given a fixed dose of 10<sup>5</sup> Bacillus stearothermophilus [76]. For the first four days post-dosing the number of B. stearothermophilus CFU g<sup>-1</sup> excreted in the faeces was maintained at a constant level after which counts dropped to insignificant levels by day 8. In a similar study, B. stearothermophilus was found to be present in the faeces for 10 days following initial dosing [77]. Interestingly, in this study the transit kinetics of B. stearothermophilus was similar to that of a Lactobacillus probiotic bacterium L. plantarum which showed evidence of colonization or, at least, retention in the GIT. It should be noted that these experiments counted spores only at the time of faecal sampling (as CFU g<sup>-1</sup>) but did not show the total counts of spores excreted. Even so, these studies revealed that the transit time (or longevity) of B. stearothermophilus in the human GIT was 8–10 days, somewhat longer than the experimentally calculated transit time of a solid marker in the gut [78]. In a third human study 10 volunteers were given two tablets containing  $1.667 \times 10^7$  spores of *Bacillus* 

polyfermenticus SCD ([31]; note this is not valid species) once a day for 14 days [79]. In this work counts of B. polyfermenticus SCD were still detectable 4 weeks after the final dosing (e.g.,  $10^3$  CFU  $g^{-1}$  faeces at week 6). These results differ substantially from those of B. stearothermophilus since if spores have no interaction with the GIT and simply pass through then we would expect to see no counts of B. polyfermenticus SCD after 22-24 days (based on the B. stearothermophilus studies described above). Although the dosing regime was different two explanations can be proposed, first, the difference may be species-specific and perhaps B. polyfermenticus SCD spores are somehow able to adhere to the gut lining retarding their transit. Alternatively, spores could be proliferating within the GIT and able to temporarily colonise. To proliferate, spores must be able to germinate and then replicate. The transit of the probiotic product Paciflor® C10 (B. cereus CIP 5832) has also been determined in dogs given 10<sup>6</sup> spores g<sup>-1</sup> of meal [80]. Spores and vegetative cells were first detectable in the faeces 24 h after ingestion and could not be detected after 3 days showing no evidence of colonization. Studies examining the fate of spores in murine models are discussed below.

#### 5.2. Spore germination and proliferation

The first studies indicating that spores could germinate in the GIT came from experiments using ligated ileal loops of rabbits [81]. More thorough studies in vivo have used a murine model. Here different doses of spores (from  $10^8$  to  $10^{10}$ ) of the B. subtilis strain PY79 ([82]; derived from the 168 type strain) were administered to groups of inbred (Balb/c) or outbred mice [83]. In each case mice were housed individually and by using gridded cage floors total faeces could be collected at 1-2 day intervals. These studies showed that the first spore counts were detectable in the faeces 3 h post-dosing yet, more importantly, after 18 h more spores had been excreted than were administered. By 5-7 days no significant spore counts could be detected yet the cumulative counts showed an increase in total CFU by as much as 6-fold. Since the total counts was greater than the administered dose the only explanation was that the spores had germinated, proliferated to some extent and then re-sporulated. This seemed at first, implausible, since no direct evidence had yet been given that B. subtilis spores could germinate. Moreover, B. subtilis is considered a facultative aerobe so how could it survive in the anoxic conditions in the GIT? Recent studies though, have shown that under appropriate conditions 'aerobic' strains of B. subtilis can grow anerobically if able to utilize nitrate or nitrite as an electron acceptor or by fermentation in the absence of electron acceptors [84]. The finding that B. subtilis spores could germinate should not be so surprising. Firstly, the spore is a dormant life form and presumably the upper region of the small intestine would be rich in nutrients that could induce germination, a process that does not require de novo protein synthesis. Second, as already mentioned, some Bacillus spore formers are already known to germinate and proliferate in the GIT, most notably B. cereus (see below). What was surprising was that the germinating spore could outgrow, replicate and re-sporulate. It is also likely that the GIT is not strictly anoxic, especially in the small intestine, and could contain a sufficient microenvironment for growth of B. subtilis. Supporting this, some microaerophilic bacteria such as Heliobacter and Campylobacter can grow readily in the GIT. B. subtilis has not been the only spore forming species shown to be able to germinate. Recent studies have also shown germination of B. cereus var toyoi, the commercial strain present in Toyocerin®, in poultry and in pigs [85,86]. In these studies rapid germination in the upper intestine in both animal species was observed reaching levels of 90% of the administered spore dose in the crop of broiler chickens. Interestingly, this work also showed that sporulation could readily occur in the small intestine by dosing piglets with 10<sup>8</sup> vegetative cells and showing that after 22 h over 10<sup>7</sup> spores g<sup>-1</sup> of digesta could be recovered. Similar results were obtained in the same study using broiler chickens. These results show that B. cereus var toyoi vegetative cells are intrinsically resistant to both gastric juice and to bile salts. Interestingly, similar studies using Lactobacillus (L. plantarum NCIMB 8826, L. fermentum KLD) and Lactococcus (Lc. Lactis MG 1363) probiotic strains showed that, at most, only 7% of an oral dose survived transit to the small intestine [77]. B. subtilis var. natto has also been shown to germinate in the GIT of mice [34].

Conclusive proof that B. subtilis spores do indeed germinate was made using a molecular method [87]. Two chimeric genes were made by fusing the 5' region of the ftsH gene of B. subtilis to the lacZ gene of Escherichia coli. The ftsH gene is expressed only during vegetative cell growth and so ftsH-lacZ mRNA could only be produced in the vegetative cell. Spores carrying ftsH-lacZ were used to dose mice and the presence of ftsH-lacZ cDNA identified by RT-PCR analysis from total RNA extracted from homogenized sections of the small intestine. These studies demonstrated spore germination in the jejunum. Similar studies using a rrnO-lacZ chimera revealed germination in the ileum as well [87]. While spore germination has been proven, the level of B. subtilis spore germination is not known, although extrapolative studies suggest this is probably less than 1% of the inoculum [87]. Interestingly, in studies counting spores excreted in faeces an increase in numbers was not always seen, suggesting that the physiological conditions (e.g., diet) of the host might affect germination and/or proliferation.

#### 5.3. Resistance to intestinal fluids

In vitro studies have shown that strains of B. coagulans cells are sensitive to simulated gastric fluid (SGF; pH2-3) but tolerant to bile salts at 0.3% with a MIC of greater than 1% [88]. B. subtilis has been examined in vitro in two studies. The first showed that B. subtilis cells were extremely sensitive to SGF and bile salts (0.2%) with an almost complete loss of viability in 1 h [89]. A further study has shown the MIC of bile salts for B. subtilis to be 0.4% and for two probiotic strains, B. cereus IP5832 (Bactisubtil®) and B. clausii (Enterogermina<sup>®</sup>) as 0.2% and <0.05%, respectively [13]. By contrast, spores of B. subtilis have been shown to be fully resistant to SGF and bile salts although germination of B. subtilis spores was partially inhibited by bile salts [89]. An interesting and unexpected study has also shown that not all spores are resistant to SGF and bile salts. Specifically, spores of the B. cereus strain used in the commercial product Biosubtyl were shown to be extremely sensitive to SGF and also to bile salts whereas spores of other B. cereus strains were completely resistant [19]. One explanation for these unexpected results is that spores may be subject to acid-induced activation of spore germination (as opposed to heat-induced germination [90,91]). Germination of spores is an extremely rapid process so acid-induced germination could generate a large population of vegetative cells that are killed by SGF. These same spores were also sensitive, but less so, to bile salts.

An in vivo study showed that after dosing mice with  $2 \times 10^8$  *B. subtilis* spores almost all spores could survive transit across the stomach and could be recovered from the small intestine [89]. In contrast, vegetative cells had almost no survival in the stomach and only a tiny fraction were able to survive transit (<0.00016% of the administered dose), confirming in vitro studies with *B. subtilis* (see above), but in contrast to *B. cereus* var *toyoi*. To account for those survivors one must assume either that they are associated with food matter or had clumped in such a way as to survive transit.

These studies appear to show that, with a few exceptions, vegetative *Bacillus* cells are sensitive to conditions within the GIT and that the stomach, in particular, presents a formidable barrier. Spores on the other hand are unaffected. It is important to remember though, that the gastric physiology of the mouse will be different from humans (e.g., a higher stomach pH) so any predictions must be tentative. If spores do indeed germinate and sufficient evidence now exists to show this does occur, then to survive and proliferate, the cell must find a way to escape the toxicity of the luminal fluids of the GIT. Passage through the GIT from the small intestine would dilute the toxic effects of bile salts but would in turn deliver cells into the anerobic environment of the colon. Possibly, the shielding effect of food or clumping is suf-

ficient to provide some protection. Alternatively, perhaps, adhesion to the gut mucosa and the formation of mixed biofilms with the gut microflora could provide a temporary niche. Ultimately, the logical pathway for spore formers to take under conditions of extreme stress would be re-sporulation and this has now been shown to occur and seems a plausible strategy for surviving transit through the GIT.

#### 5.4. Colonisation

Currently, there appears to be no compelling evidence that non-pathogenic, spore-forming bacteria permanently colonise the GIT and this ability, if any, may depend on the host, the specific spore-forming species, and other physiological and dietary factors. Even with pathogenic strains of *B. cereus* the infection is temporary (approx. 24 h) and *B. cereus* is shed completely after 24–48 h [50,57]. It is worth remembering that our knowledge of *Bacillus* is far from complete and no dedicated studies have been made to examine *Bacillus* species in the gut of animals, and most studies have examined specific strains or pathogens. It can not be ruled out that new colonizing *Bacillus* species or strains have yet to be identified.

However, at least two studies using chicks has shown that after being given a single dose of spores  $(2.5 \times 10^8)$ B. subtilis can persist for up to 36 days in the avian intestine [92,93]. Examination of the transit time of *Bacillus* probiotic strains in the mouse gut has shown that, following a single dose of spores, the levels of viable counts detectable in faeces after 15 days was barely significant [19]. Interestingly though, when compared in parallel to a laboratory strain of B. subtilis (a derivative of the 168 type strain), which was completely shed within 6 days, all probiotic *Bacillus* strains showed greater retention within the mouse gut, suggesting that they could persist longer. How this could occur is not yet known but might arise from adhesion of the vegetative cell to the mucosal epithelium as is known to occur with pathogenic B. cereus. In B. cereus the crystalline S-layer that forms the outermost layer of the vegetative cell has been implicated in adhesion as well as resistance to phagocytosis [57,94]. At least 18 species of *Bacillus* have been documented as possessing S-layers [95]. The S layer has not been shown to have a role as a protective coat since they carry pores large enough to allow the transit of enzymes, so a role in evading phagocytosis or adhesion cannot be ruled out. Relatively little is known about the detailed morphology of spores and their adhesive properties in vivo, but in most *Bacillus* species (although not B. subtilis) the entire endospore is contained within a loose sack known as the exosporium [96]. The exosporium has no unified structure but it can be physically removed without harm to the spore; and its composition and appearance under electronmicroscopy vary considerably between species [97]. One role for the exosporium could be in adhesion [98]. Another structure that could be involved in adhesion is a novel pilus structure found on the surface of the spore in strains of *B. cereus* and *B. thuringiensis* [98–102]. Pili are not present in the vegetative cell of *B. cereus* [102] so this structure could be important for initial adhesion to the gut epithelium. Interestingly, this structure is not restricted to potentially virulent species. New isolates of *B. clausii* obtained from the gut of poultry have been identified that also possess spore pili [103].

In the case of B. cereus, spores of different strains have been shown to adhere to several types of surface and B. cereus strains have been shown to be more hydrophobic than other *Bacillus* spp. [104]. A recent study has shown that binding to Caco-2 (human epithelial) cells was found to be directly proportional to the hydrophobicity of spores themselves and the greater the hydrophobicity of the spore, the greater its adhesive properties [105]. If spores of other *Bacillus* spp. also have some ability to adhere to the mucosal epithelium based on their hydrophobicity, then it might explain the varied transit times of different probiotic strains shown in the study of Duc et al. [19]. A further consideration is the formation of biofilms on the mucosal epithelium. Most of the gut microflora exists in mixed biofilms attached to the mucosal epithelium or to food particles [106,107], and B. subtilis has been shown to produce multicellular structures and biofilms [108]. These robust films have aerial structures, referred to as fruiting bodies, that have been shown to act as preferred sites for spore formation [109]. These studies on the interaction of Bacillus spp. with surface layers mimicking their natural environment show how little is still known about spore formers in their natural environment.

# 5.5. Dissemination and intracellular fate

An important aspect of evaluating the safety of a probiotic bacterium is whether it can cross the mucosal epithelium, disseminate to target tissues and organs and even proliferate. One study has recently addressed this using spores of a laboratory strain of B. subtilis [110]. Inbred mice were given  $10^9$  spores in each daily dose for 5 consecutive days. Low, yet significant viable counts (representing mostly spores) were recovered in the Peyer's Patches and mesenteric lymph nodes. Although no dissemination to deep organs (liver and kidneys) was observed these results did show that a proportion of spores must have crossed the mucosal barrier. B. subtilis spores are approximately 1.2 µm in length and so are of sufficient size to be taken up by M cells that are localised in the musocal epithelium of the small intestine and then carried to the Peyer's Patches before transportation to the efferent lymph nodes. The Peyer's Patches are rich in antigen-presenting cells, particulary dendritic cells that are effectors of Th1 and Th2 cellular responses. An in vitro study has shown that murine macrophages (a RAW264.7 cell line) cultured in the presence of B. subtilis spores could efficiently phagocytose spores [111]. Surprisingly, these studies also demonstrated that spores could germinate within the phagosome and initiate vegetative gene expression as well as protein synthesis. Germinated spores, though, failed to grow and divide and after approximately 5 h were destroyed, presumably by fusion of the phagosome with a lysosome. These results offer striking analogies with B. anthracis that exploits phagocytosis to gain entry into a host cell. B. anthracis germinates within the phagosome and can proliferate and secrete toxins which lead to cell lysis [112–114]. Unlike B. subtilis the B. anthracis vegetative cell is encased in a capsule that protects it from the toxic intracellular environment. It was proposed that intracellular spore germination may be induced by the phagocytic cell as a first step in destroying the bacterium, and the phagocytic cell possibly provides an appropriate signal to stimulate germination [111]. Interestingly, genes involved in germination appear to be remarkably conserved amongst Bacillus species, so the germination process per se is likely to be similar between species [115]. This study is important because it shows that ingested spores delivered to the small intestine in large numbers can interact with the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT). Interaction with the GALT, as will be discussed below, is an efficient mechanism to stimulate the immune system and could provide a mechanism for probiosis.

# 6. In vivo studies addressing the efficacy of *Bacillus* probiotics

#### 6.1. Human studies

There are few published reports of clinical trials. One study has examined the effect of B. clausii (reported as B. subtilis ATCC 9799 and the species found in Enterogermina<sup>®</sup>) spores on 80 elderly patients with slow or static urinary flow [37]. This randomized and placebo-controlled study used patients treated for 6 months with two vials of Enterogermina<sup>®</sup> daily. In the final 2 months of treatment there was a statistically significant reduction (P < 0.05) in the number of patients with positive urine cultures (i.e., containing >10<sup>5</sup> bacterial counts; typically species of Klebsiella, Proteus, Shigella, Pseudomonas and E. coli). B. coagulans (reported incorrectly as Lactobacillus sporogenes) was used in a nonrandomized study of 17 hyperlipidemic patients [116]. Two tablets (each containing  $3.6 \times 10^8$  spores) were given to patients three times per day for twelve weeks. In this study, which unfortunately did not carry dietary controls,

reductions in total cholesterol were observed. In a recent trial *B. coagulans* has been used successfully to prevent antibiotic-associated diarrhoea in children [117].

#### 6.2. Animal studies

One day old chicks dosed orally with a single dose of spores  $(2.5 \times 10^8)$  of a laboratory strain of B. subtilis showed greater resistance to the avian pathogen Escherichia coli O78:K80 when challenged 24 h following dosing [92]. These studies showed a significant reduction in the colonization of the spleen, liver and caeca. Intriguingly, E. coli O78:K80 infection and colonization could not be suppressed when birds were challenged 5 days after initial dosing with B. subtilis. In a similar study, the same laboratory strain of B. subtilis was found to suppress colonization and persistence of Salmonella enteritidis and Clostridium perfringens in chicks [93]. Interestingly, B. subtilis was found to persist in the avian intestine for 35 days suggesting that it may briefly colonise the GIT and appears to be supported by studies showing extensive spore germination and colonization of broiler chickens by B. cereus var toyoi [85]. B. subtilis var. natto, the bacterial component of the fermented food product Natto has been shown to improve feed conversion efficiency and reduce abdominal fat of broiler chickens [118]. These animals all showed a reduced ammonia concentration, which was proposed to activate intestinal function including villus height and enterocyte cell area. Reduced ammonia concentrations have also been observed in probiotic-fed chickens and pigs fed with B. cereus [119,120] and these low ammonia concentrations have been shown to stimulate germination of B. cereus spores [121]. Moreover, reduced ammonia, by increasing the total surface area of the gut lumen could increase nutrient absorption and might provide one explanation of probiosis. B. cereus var toyoi has also been shown to increase abdominal fat in the Japanese quail (Coturnix japonica) [122]. The efficacy of the recently withdrawn probiotic product, Paciflor® C10 containing B. cereus CIP 5832, was shown to enhance the health status of sows and their litters [123]. Piglets receiving the probiotic (85 g ton<sup>-1</sup> of feed) showed a reduced incidence of scour (diarrhoea) and reduced mortality and a general increased feed conversion ratio of Paciflor<sup>®</sup>-treated piglets. B. licheniformis spores and B. cereus var toyoi have been shown to reduce the incidence and severity of post-weaning diarrhoea syndrome in piglets [124]. Animals displayed a gain in weight and enhanced feed-conversion efficiency. Additional studies have shown that pigs receiving B. cereus var tovoi had more pronounced intestinal villi similar to those described above for poultry dosed with B. subtilis var natto. B. cereus var. toyoi was one of three probiotic species evaluated for their effect on edema disease caused by ETEC in piglets and was found, as were the other non-Bacillus probiotics, to have no effect on the disease [125].

In ruminants the digestive tract is more complex than in monogastric animals with food first entering the rumen before being passed to the reticulum (the second forestomach) and then to the abomasum (true stomach). Calves acquire a GI microflora after birth and as solid feed is consumed the microbial population of the rumen increases and diversifies. Probiotic bacteria are thought to be beneficial in rapidly establishing the rumen microflora and the more rapid this process the faster the transition from liquid to solid feed. In turn, this reduces the probability of gastrointestinal problems such as scouring (a diarrhoeal syndrome often caused by ETEC bacteria). Few studies have been undertaken to evaluate the effect of Bacillus probiotics in feed. However, one study has reported positive effects on feed conversion efficiency in calves fed with a B. subtilis strain (used in the commercial product BioPlus 2B<sup>®</sup>) in the first month post-weaning [126].

# 6.3. Fish and shrimps

One of the problems associated with evaluating Bacillus products (or indeed any probiotic product) for aquaculture is determining whether the observed effect is due to the action of the bacterium on the host gut or due to an indirect effect on water quality or antagonism of external pathogens [44]. Regardless, sufficient evidence suggests that adding Bacillus as spores or vegetative cells to rearing ponds has a beneficial effect. Toyocerin® has been used as a probiotic feed for Japanese eels and shown to reduce infection and mortality by Edwardsiella spp. [47]. Bacillus spores have been shown to increase the survival and production of channel catfish [127]. A strain of B. subtilis has been isolated from the common snook and it was shown that introduction of this isolate, as spores, into rearing water eliminated Vibrio species found in the larvae of snook [128]. Bacillus species appear to show most promise in prevention of Vibrio infections that are a major threat in intensive shrimp farming. Addition of *Bacillus* cells (not spores), selected on the basis of their ability to produce antibiotics against Vibrio species, to rearing ponds has been shown to decrease the numbers of *Vibrio* species in pond sediments as well as to increase prawn survival [129]. This study also illustrated the problem of determining whether the Bacillus species was directly involved or whether it improved water quality by degrading organic matter in pond sediments. The introduction of Bacillus spp. in the immediate proximity of pond aerators has been shown to significantly reduce chemical oxygen demand and lead to an increased shrimp harvest and this strategy has led to the development of some commercial products such as Biostart® [44]. A B. subtilis isolate, BT23, isolated from shrimp culture ponds has been tested for its activity against V. harveyi, a shrimp pathogen, both in vitro and in vivo [130]. A cell-free extract of BT23 was shown to inhibit the activity of various Vibrio species using an agar diffusion assay. By co-culturing V. harveyi with B. subtilis BT23, growth of V. harveyi was inhibited and cell-free extracts of BT23 were bacteriostatic. In a challenge model the mortality of V. harveyi infection was significantly reduced by the presence of BT23 in tank water. These very simple experiments appear to show clear probiotic properties by B. subtilis BT23. Unfortunately in these experiments no attempt was made to define the inoculum as spores or as vegetative cells. A similar experimental rationale has been made using a Bacillus species (not defined) termed S11, isolated from the soil sediments of shrimp ponds [131]. In a challenge test Penaeus monodon treated with S11 vegetative cells showed 100% survival compared to a control that exhibited 26% survival. In a more extensive study this probiotic was shown to stimulate the shrimp immune system, to reduce shrimp mortality when animals were challenged with V. harveyi, and to be more effective when given to juvenile shrimps [132].

# 7. Mechanisms for probiosis

### 7.1. Immune stimulation

Stimulation of the immune system, or immunomodulation, is considered an important mechanism to support probiosis. A number of studies in humans and animal models have provided strong evidence that oral administration of spores stimulates the immune system. This tells us that spores are neither innocuous gut passengers nor treated as a food. As already stated, a small proportion of B. subtilis spores have been shown to disseminate to the primary lymphoid tissues of the GALT (Peyer's Patches and mesenteric lymph nodes) following oral inoculation [110] and in vitro studies have shown that phagocytosed spores can germinate and express vegetative genes but are unable to replicate [111]. Following oral dosing, anti-spore IgG responses could be detected at significant levels. Anti-spore IgG and secretory IgA (sIgA) could be produced by a normal process of antigen uptake by B cells. Detailed analysis of the subclasses showed IgG2a to be the initial subclass produced and this is often seen as being indicative of a type 1 (Th1) T-cell response [133–137]. Th1 responses are important for IgG synthesis but more importantly for CTL (cytotoxic T lymphocyte) recruitment and are important for the destruction of intracellular microorganisms (e.g., viruses, Salmonella spp.) and involve presentation of antigens on the surface of the host cell by a class I MHC processing pathway. Support for Th1 responses has been provided by the analysis of cytokines in vivo that showed synthesis of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in the GALT and secondary lymphoid organs when spores of B. subtilis or B. pumilus were administered to mice [89,111]. IFN-y is an effector of cellular responses and could have been produced by an innate immune response probably including Natural Killer (NK) cells. Similar studies have shown that orally administered B. subtilis leads to a rapid induction of interferon production by mononuclear cells in the peripheral blood, which stimulated the activity of both macrophages and NK cells [138]. A number of other studies have shown ex vivo synthesis of IFN-γ in rabbits or mice following dosing with B. clausii spores of the Enterogermina® product [139,140]. In a recent study vegetative cells of the four Enterogermina® B. clausii strains was shown to induce IFN-γ synthesis in murine spleen cells [141]. Interestingly, all B. clausii strains induced proliferation of CD4+ T cells in the presence of irradiated APC spleen cells and the peptidoglycan component of the cell wall is one component that could be involved in immunomodulation [142]. This is in agreement with studies using human mononuclear cells that showed that vegetative cells, but not spores, could stimulate mitogenic-induced lymphocyte proliferation in vitro [143]. Bacillus firmus vegetative cells have been shown to stimulate the proliferation of human peripheral blood lymphocytes in vitro [144]. In this study B. firmus was shown to promote differentiation of B lymphocytes to Ig producing and secreting cells and was shown to be significantly more potent than other Bacilli tested (B. subtilis, B. coagulans, B. megaterium, B. pumilus, B. cereus and B. lentus).

Another study involved a randomized trial of 30 elderly patients who were given B. clausii spores of Enterogermina<sup>®</sup>. Lymphocyte subsets were determined from peripheral blood mononuclear cells and a significant increase in B lymphocytes bearing membrane IgA was observed but not unrestricted proliferation of all B lymphocytes [145]. These results indicate that orally administered spores may be interacting with the GALT and priming B lymphocytes for IgA synthesis. An interesting study has shown that B. subtilis in combination with Bacteroides fragilis promoted development of the GALT in rabbits and led to the development of the preimmune antibody repertoire [146]. Interestingly, neither species alone could induce GALT development, so this cannot be an antigen-specific immune response. Furthermore, at least one stress protein, YqxM, secreted from B. subtilis was shown to required for GALT development.

On a more cautionary note, in vitro studies have shown that the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 was produced in macrophages cultured with *B. subtilis* or *B. pumilus* spores [19]. Proinflammatory responses cannot necessarily be considered a beneficial feature of a probiotic since they have been linked to a number of autoimmune diseases such as inflammatory bowel diseases including ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease [147].

Invertebrate immune systems have two components, first, humoral defenses, such as antibacterial activity, agglutinins, cytokine-like factors and clotting factors, and second, cellular defenses such as hemolymph clotting, phagocytosis, encapsulation and the prophenoloxidase system [148,149]. No evidence of antibody synthesis has yet been shown. In commercially farmed shrimps, an undefined Bacillus species, Bacillus S11, has been shown to stimulate the primitive immune system of *Penaeus* monodon [132]. Bacillus S11 cells were shown to increase phenoloxidase as well as antibacterial activity (against the shrimp pathogen V. harveyi) in shrimp hemolymph. Bacillus S11 was also shown to increase the levels of phagocytosis of hemocytes derived from hemolymph compared to control shrimps and levels were increased further after challenge of shrimps with V. harveyi. As with vertebrate studies that show cell wall peptidoglycan to be a potential immunogen, in shrimps, peptidoglycan has also been shown to stimulate granulocytes leading to higher levels of phagocytosis [150].

# 7.2. Synthesis of antimicrobials

The production of antimicrobials by probiotics is considered one of the principal mechanisms (microbial interference therapy) that inhibit pathogenic microorganisms in the GIT. Bacillus species produce a large number of antimicrobials (see [151]). These include bacteriocins and bacteriocin-like inhibitory substances (BLIS) (e.g., Subtilin and Coagulin) as well as antibiotics (e.g., Surfactin, Iturins A, C. D. E, and Bacilysin). Some Bacillus species contained in commercial products are known to produce antimicrobials. Of the two Bacillus strains in the product Biosporin<sup>®</sup> (Table 1) B. subtilis 3 has been shown to produce a heat-stable and proteaseresistant isocoumarin antibiotic, aminocoumacin A [26]. This antibiotic was active against *Staphylococcus aureus*, Enterococcus faecium, Shigella flexneri, Camphylobacter jejuni as well as Heliobacter pylori. B. clausii strains in Enterogermina® have been shown to produce antimicrobials with activity against Gram-positive bacteria [19,141] and B. polyfermenticus SCD carried in the S. Korean product Bispan has been shown to produce a protease-sensitive and heat-labile bacteriocin, polyfermenticum, with activity against Gram-positive bacteria [31]. B. subtilis strains carried in the commercial products Promarine® and Bio Plus 2B® (Table 1) have also been shown to produce antimicrobials [151]. Probiotic strains of B. coagulans are found in a number of commercial products often mislabeled as Lactobacillus sporogenes (see Table 1). B. coagulans produces coagulin, a heat-stable, protease-sensitive BLIS with activity against Gram-positive bacteria [36]. B. subtilis var. natto has also been shown to inhibit the growth of Candida albicans [152] in the intestinal tract and a surfactin has been identified with activity against yeast [153]. The effect of these antimicrobials in vivo is not understood and it cannot be assumed that effects seen in vitro can be mimicked in the host GIT. To illustrate this Hosoi et al. [34] dosed mice with *B. subtilis* var *natto* spores and showed that this promoted growth of *Lactobacillus* under some dietary conditions but decreased counts under others [35]. The microenvironment of the GIT is extremely complex and is subject to dietary and physiological conditions that influence the formation of biofilms on the gut epithelium. The ability of ingested probiotic bacteria to influence this microbiota is therefore going to be subject to a large number of factors that, in turn, influence its ability to survive and secrete antimicrobials.

#### 7.3. Other mechanisms

The competitive exclusion (CE) concept is a term mostly used in the poultry industry and refers to the ability of orally administered bacteria to stimulate the host's resistance against infectious disease [154,155]. Different mechanisms have been proposed for CE agents including competition for host mucosal receptor sites, secretion of antimicrobials, production of fermentation by-products, such as volatile fatty acids, competition for essential nutrients and stimulation of host immune functions. This concept is mentioned here because it overlaps with probiosis but is often reported as a separate mechanism in poultry studies. In the poultry industry a number of products have been used that carry poorly defined mixtures of microorganisms, some carrying Bacillus species, and these have been shown to be beneficial to the host [119,156].

Bacillus species (B. subtilis, B. firmus, B. megaterium and B. pumilus) have recently been shown to convert genotoxic compounds to unreactive products in vitro and this has been proposed as a probiotic mechanism, if this could occur in the intestine [157]. It is generally accepted that maintaining the correct balance of commensal bacteria in the GIT is important to a number gastrointestinal disorders such as diarrhoea, inflammatory bowel disease (Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis) as well as colorectal cancer [158]. At least one study has shown that oral administration of B. subtilis var. natto in mice influenced the faecal microflora, specifically *Bacteroides* and *Lactobacillus* species, and that this depended upon the diet [34]. In these studies it was shown that the numbers of Lactobacillus spp. decreased when mice were fed with an egg white diet, but stabilized when the diet was supplemented with B. subtilis var. natto spores. Using a casein diet, however, the numbers of *Lactobacillus* spp. were unchanged when supplemented with spores, although the numbers of Bacteroidaceae increased. Interestingly, no change was seen when autoclaved spores were used, suggesting that the effect seen might be due to germinating spores. This work indicated that B. subtilis var. natto could be beneficial in maintaining the natural microflora. Understanding the complexities of the diet and its affect on probiosis in appear daunting, although related studies in chickens and pigs provide supporting data [159].

# 8. The Safety of Bacillus products

The use of any probiotic whether for human or animal use should raise questions over safety, since the product is consumed in large quantities on a regular basis. For human use the primary concern is whether the bacterial species is safe to ingest and whether GMP conditions have been used in production. For animal use the concern is whether using the probiotic in animal feed increases the risk of inter-species transfer of antibiotic resistance genes. The Food and Drug Administration of the United States of America has not, as yet, granted any probiotic product GRAS (Generally Regarded As Safe) status although *Bacillus* species do carry GRAS status for specific industrial applications (e.g., enzyme production) [6].

# 8.1. Infections associated with Bacillus species

B. anthracis and B. cereus are known pathogens. B. anthracis will not be discussed here, nor will coverage be made of the voluminous reports documenting local, deep-tissue and systemic infections in immunocompromised patients and incidental reports of *Bacillus* species being isolated from hospital infections. Similar reports can be found for members of a number of bacterial genera. Reports detailing these infections can be found elsewhere (see [6,7,42,160]). B. cereus is worth summarizing, since strains of this species are in current use as a probiotic. B. cereus strains can produce either a diarrhoeatype disease or an emetic-type disease [50,56]. In the diarrhoea syndrome, the disease is produced by ingestion of spores in contaminated foodstuffs, germination of spores in the GIT and secretion of one of up to six enterotoxins, Haemolysin BL (Hbl), Non-haemolytic enterotoxin (Nhe), Enterotoxin T (BceT), Enterotoxin FM (EntFM) and Enterotoxin K (EntK). In the emetic syndrome, illness is caused by ingestion of the preformed emetic toxin, Cereulide. The severity of the diarrhoea syndrome is probably linked to the number of enterotoxins produced. It has been shown that not every strain of B. cereus carries all enterotoxin genes, and in some cases none at all [161]. For Nhe and Hbl the active toxin is composed of three subunits, each encoded by separate genes. Intriguingly, some Bacillus strains have been shown to carry one or more of these genes but not all. For example a strain of B. sphaericus (KD18) was found to contain the hblA and hblD genes but not hblC [161]. The commercial B. cereus product Bactisubtil® was found to carry the *nheB* and *nheC* genes but not nheA and did not produce the Nhe enterotoxin [19].

*B. thuringiensis*, which is closely related to *B. cereus*, is used as a biopesticide and has been implicated in cases of gastroenteritis in workers using this horticultural agent [60,162]. Strains of *B. thuringiensis* have also been shown to produce enterotoxins [60,163].

B. licheniformis has been reported in cases of food-borne diarrhoeal illness, toxin production and infant mortality [164]. B. subtilis has been implicated in food-borne illnesses, with vomiting being the most common symptom [165]. A recent study has shown that at least one B. subtilis strain carries all three genes required to produce the Hbl enterotoxin normally produced in B. cereus [161]. Therefore, even B. subtilis must be treated with caution and any use of it as a probiotic must follow a complete evaluation of virulence factors.

In cases of food-borne illnesses, especially diarrhoea, difficulties exist in identifying the causative agent. Since many probiotics are used to treat diarrhoea this can produce misleading conclusions, as illustrated in a recent study. Kniehl et al. [166] reported on three cases of diarrhoea where *B. cereus* was isolated from the stools of patients. Each isolate was confirmed as *B. cereus* strain IP5832 and was found to have originated from the probiotic Bactisubtil<sup>®</sup> (*B. cereus* IP5832) used to treat the diarrhoea. The Bactisubtil<sup>®</sup> *B. cereus* strain has been shown to produce diarrhoea-producing enterotoxins so the possibility could not be ruled out that the use of this product contributed to the diarrhoea syndrome.

# 8.2. Antibiotic resistance transfer

There are a number of important concerns over the use of probiotic bacteria relating to their ability to transfer and disseminate drug resistance genes [39,167]. Most importantly, their use in animal feed could create a reservoir of drug-resistance that is transferable to humans. Another scenario is the transfer of resistance genes to animal pathogens that can cross the species barrier and infect humans through food products. Finally, the release to the environment in faeces would enable an accumulation or drug-resistance genes that can survive in the absence of a selective pressure. One of the problems with probiotic usage in humans is that in some countries probiotics are prescribed as an adjunct to the antibiotic. This is a common practice in SE Asia where probiotic bacteria (Bacillus and Lactobacillus spp.) are used to limit the side effects of antibiotics and a number of products are marketed as carrying 'antibiotic-resistant probiotic bacteria' (including products licensed to European companies). In hindgut fermentors (e.g., humans and pigs) the major microbial populations reside in the large intestine (colon) and can consist of up to 10<sup>12</sup> anerobic bacteria ml<sup>-1</sup>. In ruminants approximately  $10^9 - 10^{11}$  anerobic bacteria ml<sup>-1</sup> are found in the rumen and also large populations of anerobic bacteria (10<sup>7</sup>–10<sup>10</sup> ml<sup>-1</sup>) in the stomach. In hindgut fermentors the spore would survive transit across the stomach and come into contact with a large population of metabolically active bacteria, whereas in ruminants they would first interact with microbial populations in the rumen. Most resident GIT microbial populations would exist as mixed biofilms on the mucosal epithelium or on the surface of food particles [107]. The environment of the GIT is often exposed to low levels of antibiotics which, in some cases, has been shown to stimulate gene transfer [168,169]. In farm animals this is particularly important, since antibiotic growth promoters, such as tetracyline, have been shown to increase the probability of gene transfer. In bacteria the most common form of gene transfer is by conjugation and this can occur in Bacillus. In addition, efficient gene transfer can also be mediated by transduction and transformation, and B. subtilis, in particular, can become naturally competent. Naturally-occurring plasmids in *Bacillus* species are common and many encode conjugative or mobilisable elements. In addition, other integrated mobile genetic elements such as transposons and insertion sequences have been described [170].

The human product Enterogermina® contains a mixture of four strains of antibiotic-resistant B. clausii (originally reported and described as B. subtilis) referred to as O/C (resistance to chloramphenicol), N/R (resistant to novobiocin and rifampicin), T (resistance to tetracycline) and SIN (resistance to streptomycin and neomycin). Each of these strains was made by single and multi-step methods from a B. clausii strain (ATCC 9799) resistant to erythromycin, lincomycin, cephalosporins and cycloserines [8,9]. The attractiveness of a multi-resistant probiotic preparation is as an adjunct to antibiotic therapy. These resistance markers were thought to be produced by spontaneous chromosomal mutations and were not acquired. Resistance to tetracycline, rifampicin and streptomycin was stable for about 200 generations but stability to chloramphenicol was easily lost in the absence of a selective pressure [10]. One concern raised was how chromosomal mutations could provide such levels of stability in the absence of a selective pressure since chromosomal mutations that facilitate resistance are normally deleterious to cell growth and viability. Preliminary, yet inconclusive studies appear to show that the O/C, N/R, T and SIN markers are not readily transferable [10]. A recent report has characterized the erythromycin marker of the B. clausii strains as a new macrolide resistant gene erm (34) [171]. This was shown to be chromosomal and could not be transferred to Enterococcus faecalis, Enterococcus faecium or B. subtilis strains. Other studies have shown that of the 21 known erm genes some are plasmid-borne and can be transferred, these include ermJ in B. anthracis [172] and ermC in B. subtilis [173].

B. cereus (as well as B. thuringiensis) strains produce a broad-spectrum β-lactamase and so are resistant to pen-

icillin, ampicillin and cephalosporins. This was illustrated in a detailed characterization of the resistance profiles of 5 commercial *Bacillus* probiotics [12]. This work showed high levels of resistance to penicillin and ampicillin in two B. cereus products (Biosubtyl 'Dalat' and Subtyl). A third B. cereus product (Bactisubtil®) was shown to exhibit high levels of resistance to chloramphenicol and tetracycline. Interestingly, a plasmid from B. cereus carrying a tetracycline resistance gene has been transferred to a strain of B. subtilis and could be stably maintained [174]. Alarmingly, a clinical isolate of *B. circulans* has been shown to have resistance to vancomycin [175]. A strain of Paenibacillus popillae (formerly Bacillus popillae) originally dating to the 1940s has been shown to carry vancomycin resistance and to carry vanA and vanB homologues. Since vancomycinresistant enterococci (VRE) were first reported in 1986 it has been proposed that the resistance genes in VRE and P. popillae shared a common ancestor. Alternatively, P. popillae may have been the precursor of the genes in VRE since P. popillae has been used as a biopesticide for over 50 years [176].

Probiotic products for use as animal feed supplements are subject to much higher levels of scrutiny than those intended for human use. The B. cereus strain contained in Esporafeed Plus® has been withdrawn for use in Europe as a feed additive because it was shown to carry the tetB gene which is normally transposon- or plasmid-borne [43]. Finally, the B. licheniformis strain in the feed additive AlCare<sup>TM</sup>, was considered unsafe for feeding to pigs because of the risk of transferring resistance to erythromycin [177]. In conclusion, for safe use in humans and also in animal feeds, the antimicrobial resistance profiles of each probiotic strain must be clearly defined and a strong case should be made that this resistance is not transferable. In Europe the European Commission has now issued a policy statement on the assessment of probiotic bacteria resistant to antibiotics of human and veterinary importance [167].

#### 8.3. Virulence factors

Few studies have been made of virulence factors in *Bacillus* species other than *B. anthracis* and *B. cereus*. A recent study examined 47 clinical isolates representing 14 species of *Bacillus* by examining their ability to adhere to, invade and produce cytotoxic effects in human Hep-2 and Caco-2 cells [161]. In each case the *Bacillus* species had been isolated from infected patients. Thirty-eight of the isolates were able to produce cytotoxic effects in both epithelial cell lines. These included strains of *B. subtilis*, *B. pumilus*, *B. cereus* and *B. licheniformis*. All isolates were found to adhere to both cell lines and, with the exception of *B. coagulans*, all other species carried strains that were able to invade epithelial cells. Interestingly, for *B. cereus*, not all strains were

invasive or cytotoxic. This study also examined known enterotoxin genes associated with diarrhoea. These are normally found on *B. cereus* strains but surprisingly, they were also found in one strain of *B. subtilis*. Enterotoxin genes were also found in strains of *B. thuringiensis*, *B. circulans* and *B. sphaericus*. Again, as with effects on epithelial cell lines, some *B. cereus* strains carried no enterotoxin genes. Similar studies have shown that three commercial *B. cereus* probiotics carried enterotoxin genes, produced toxins, haemolysins and lecithinases [19]. These studies show the importance of accurate determination of virulence factors and shows that no definitive statements can be made at the species level.

#### 8.4. Product mislabeling

Unfortunately, it has become apparent that a number of commercial probiotic preparations are poorly characterized and in some cases mislabeled [178]. The reasons for this are not clear but, in part, are probably due to the lack of stringent regulations controlling the original licensing and sale of these products. In Europe products for human use as novel foods have historically been licensed if it can be shown to be of the same species as a product currently in use. As shown already, it is clear that sufficient diversity at the species level exists to preclude any assumptions being made regarding safety. This licensing strategy can explain, in part, why there are so many *Lactobacillus* products currently available. In the case of Bacillus products a number of these products have been mislabeled. The product Enterogermina® is one notable example. Labelled as carrying B. subtilis spores it has subsequently been shown to contain up to 4 strains of B. clausii [12,14,30]. Other examples are three Vietnamese products, all of which were shown to contain mislabeled species [12].

Another form of mislabeling is the use of non-standard bacterial nomenclature. For example, the products Lactipan Plus, Neolactoflorene, Lacto5 and Bifilact (Table 1) are all labeled as carrying Lactobacillus sporogenes, yet no such species exist and it has been reclassified as B. coagulans [6], In the case of Neolactoflorene the spore forming species (B. coagulans) has been correctly identified as B. subtilis [179]. Other examples of invalid species names used in commercial products are Bacillus laterosporus, Bacillus polyfermenticus and Bacillus toyoi, the latter being a strain of B. cereus (var. toyoi). In part, the misclassification of products can be attributed to the use of crude methods for species designation and the failure to re-examine and update the taxonomic status. This does not give confidence in the standards of GMP being used. On the other hand the implication that bacterial species are related to the more commonly-used Lactobacillus probiotics should be considered unethical. With advanced biochemical tests (e.g., the API testing kits) and molecular methods (e.g., 16S rRNA typing) available today it is unacceptable to mislabel products.

#### 8.5. Product licensing

Strict regulations under the control of the EFSA are in place in Europe to control the licensing of products for use in animal feed. Only two products are currently licensed (BioPlus 2B<sup>®</sup> and Toyocerin<sup>®</sup>, see Table 1). These same EU regulations governing the licensing of probiotics in animal feed has seen the withdrawal or rejection of a number of Bacillus products including Paciflor® C10 (B. cereus), Neoferm BS-10 (B. clausii), Alcare<sup>TM</sup> (B. licheniformis) and Esporafeed Plus<sup>®</sup> (B. cereus). To satisfy the EFSA that a product is safe for use in animals a Risk Assessment is made of the animal feed product by an independently appointed Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition (SCAN). The role of SCAN is to show that the use of probiotics does not constitute a risk to human health and the bacterial strains must be shown to be safe. Risks would include one or more virulence factors (e.g., enterotoxin genes), cytotoxicity, acquired antibiotic resistance markers, etc. While this European strategy has reduced the risk to the public, it is now estimated to cost approximately 1.4 million Euros to licence a product for animal us (for a detailed analysis of the costs involved in the licensing of animal probiotics in Europe see [3]). At a time when alternatives to antibiotics are clearly needed this current situation may also discourage the development of new products.

Ironically, the situation for use of probiotics in animal feed is in stark contrast to their use in human food or as 'novel foods' [178]. A case in point is *B. cereus* strain IP5832. This strain had been used extensively in the animal feed product Paciflor<sup>®</sup> C10 and was rejected for use in 2002 because it had been shown to produce enterotoxins that could lead to food poisoning [18]. Incomprehensibly, the same strain is still being used for human use and is marketed as Bactisubtil<sup>®</sup> in at least three EU countries (Belgium, Germany and Portugal) and it has recently been confirmed that this product produces at least one enterotoxin (Hbl; [19]).

As yet no regulations that match the rigor of the EFSA are in place for human products but initial steps have been taken and outlined in a joint report issued by the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United States (FAO) and the World Health Organisation (WHO) and available through the WHO website [180] and expanded upon elsewhere [181]. The FAO/WHO report suggests a set of guidelines for a product to be used for humans whether as a stand-alone probiotic product or as a novel food supplement. These remain guidelines only and, as yet, are not strictly enforced. These guidelines state that a product must:

- (i) Be accurately defined at the genus and species level using phenotypic and genotypic methods including biochemical testing and molecular methods (e.g., 16S rRNA analysis).
- (ii) The strain must be deposited in an international culture collection.
- (iii) The strain must be assessed in vitro to determine its safety and lack of virulence factors. This would include the ability of the bacterium to adhere to, to invade and to produce cytotoxic effects in epithelial cells. Also, the absence of known enterotoxin genes, enterotoxins, haemolysins and lecithinases.
- (iv) Determination of antimicrobial activity, antimicrobial resistance profiles, absence of acquired resistance genes and inability to transfer resistance factors.
- (v) Pre-clinical safety evaluation in animal models.
- (vi) Pre-clinical assessment in animals to demonstrate efficacy.
- (vii) Phase I (safety) human trial.
- (viii) Phase II (efficacy) and Phase III (effectiveness) trials in humans.
- (ix) Correct product labeling including genus and species, precise dose and storage conditions.

While these guidelines are commendable it seems unlikely that, if enforced, many manufacturers would consider the costs of conducting Phase I to III trials. In the USA the regulations governing the licensing of probiotic bacteria are not clear, since GRAS status has not been given by the FDA to any probiotic product to our knowledge, yet numerous products are available through the internet (see Table 1). Finally, in Europe any probiotic for over-the-counter use must be evaluated rigorously (and this may include clinical trials) and a detailed dossier submitted to the European Medicines Agency in London, UK, to obtain licensing. To date, only the Italian product, Enterogermina<sup>®</sup> is being produced as an over-the-counter drug with current licensing in Italy, Mexico and Peru.

# 9. Concluding remarks

This review has summarized the current use of *Bacillus* spores as probiotics and has attempted to provide a unifying hypothesis for how they might act. We have made the case that spores are not simply passengers in the GIT but are able to germinate and proliferate within this seemingly hostile environment. This endosymbiotic life cycle enables proliferation within a host and seems to be supported by mounting evidence that *Bacillus* species are found within the gut. Some *Bacillus* species are found within the gut. Some *Bacillus* species exploit the gut for pathogenesis, but most appear to grow and replicate and are ultimately excreted in the

faeces as spores. The diet, or the balance of other gastrointestinal microflora, may affect the ability of germinated spores to remain in the GIT, but it is unlikely that the known species colonise the gut. Once excreted, spores are able to survive in the environment, but, if a suitable situation arises, they can again germinate and proliferate as saprophytes. Thus, Bacillus species appear to be able to adopt symbiotic relationships both externally (e.g., with plants) as well as internally with whatever organism ingests them. The spore is designed to germinate in the presence of nutrients, so if germination did not occur, failure to survive in the GIT would lead to cell death, and it seems unlikely that bacteria have not adapted to this eventuality. For probiosis this ability of spores to germinate in the GIT is key to explaining the mode of action and this is likely to include immunomodulation and secretion of antimicrobials. The longterm advantages of using spores as probiotics is that they are heat-stable and can survive transit across the stomach barrier, properties that can not be assured with other probiotic bacteria that are given in the vegetative form. Whilst the use of spores as probiotics appears to be expanding, with a growing number of products available it is equally clear that supposedly 'safe' species can not be taken for granted and every product must be evaluated on a case by case basis.

#### References

- [1] Fuller, R. (1989) Probiotics in man and animals. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 66, 365–378.
- [2] Cartman, S.T. and La Ragione, R.M. (2004) Spore probiotics as animal feed supplements In: Bacterial Spore Formers: Probiotics and Emerging Applications (Ricca, E., Henriques, A.O. and Cutting, S.M., Eds.), pp. 155–161. Horizon Bioscience, Norfolk, UK.
- [3] McCartney, E. (2004) EU regulations on bacillary probiotics for animal feeds In: Bacterial Spore Formers: Probiotics and Emerging Applications (Ricca, E., Henriques, A.O. and Cutting, S.M., Eds.), pp. 221–227. Horizon Bioscience, Norfolk, UK.
- [4] Czerucka, D. and Rampal, P. (2002) Experimental effects of Saccharomyces boulardii on diarrheal pathogens. Microbes Infect. 4, 733–739.
- [5] Czerucka, D., Dahan, S., Mograbi, B., Rossi, B. and Rampal, P. (2000) Saccharomyces boulardii preserves the barrier function and modulates the signal transduction pathway induced in enteropathogenic Escherichia coli-infected T84 cells. Infect. Immunol. 68, 5998–6004.
- [6] Sanders, M.E., Morelli, L. and Tompkins, T.A. (2003) Spore-formers as human probiotics: *Bacillus, Sporolactobacillus*, and *Brevibacillus*. Comprehensive Rev. Food Sci. Food Safety 2, 101–110.
- [7] Mazza, P. (1994) The use of *Bacillus subtilis* as an antidiarrhoeal microorganism. Boll. Chim. Farm. 133, 3–18.
- [8] Ciffo, F. (1984) Determination of the spectrum of antibiotic resistance of the *Bacillus subtilis* strains of Enterogermina. Chemioterapia 3, 45–52.
- [9] Mazza, G. (1983) Genetic studies on the transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in *Bacillus subtilis* strains. Chemioterapia 2, 64– 72.

- [10] Mazza, P., Zani, F. and Martelli, P. (1992) Studies on the antibiotic resistance of *Bacillus subtilis* strains used in oral bacteriotherapy. Boll. Chim. Farm. 131, 401–408.
- [11] Green, D.H. and Cutting, S.M. (1999) Sporulation in *Bacillus subtilis* (Smith, M.C.M. and Sockett, R.E., Eds.), Genetic Methods for Diverse Prokaryotes, vol. 29, pp. 467–486. Academic Press, New York.
- [12] Hoa, N.T., Baccigalupi, L., Huxham, A., Smertenko, A., Van, P.H., Ammendola, S., Ricca, E. and Cutting, S.M. (2000) Characterization of *Bacillus* species used for oral bacteriotherapy and bacterioprophylaxis of gastrointestinal disorders. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66, 5241–5247.
- [13] Spinosa, M.R., Braccini, T., Ricca, E., De Felice, M., Morelli, L., Pozzi, G. and Oggioni, M.R. (2000) On the fate of ingested *Bacillus* spores. Res. Microbiol. 151, 361–368.
- [14] Senesi, S., Celandroni, F., Tavanti, A. and Ghelardi, E. (2001) Molecular characterization and identification of *Bacillus clausii* strains marketed for use in oral bacteriotherapy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 834–839.
- [15] Osipova, I.G., Sorokulova, I.B., Tereshkina, N.V. and Grigor'eva, L.V. (1998) Safety of bacteria of the genus *Bacillus*, forming the base of some probiotics. Zh. Mikrobiol. Epidemiol. Immunobiol., 68–70.
- [16] Smirnov, V.V., Rudenko, A.V., Samgorodskaia, N.V., Sorokulova, I.B., Reznik, S.R. and Sergeichuk, T.M. (1994) Susceptibility to antimicrobial drugs of strains of bacilli used as a basis for various probiotics. Antibiot. Khimioter. 39, 23–28.
- [17] Sorokulova, I.B. (1997) A comparative study of the biological properties of Biosporin and other commercial *Bacillus*-based preparations. Mikrobiol. Zh. 59, 43–49.
- [18] SCAN (2001) Assessment by the Scientific Committee on animal nutrition of the safety of product Paciflor<sup>®</sup> for use as feed additive. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. Available from: http://europa.eu.int/comm/ food/fs/sc/scan/out62\_en.pdf.
- [19] Duc, L.H., Hong, H.A., Barbosa, T.M., Henriques, A.O. and Cutting, S.M. (2004) Characterization of *Bacillus* probiotics available for human use. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 2161– 2171.
- [20] Bilev, A.E. (2002) Comparative evaluation of probiotic activity in respect to in vitro pneumotropic bacteria and pharmacodynamics of biosporin-strain producers in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. Voen. Med. Zh. 323, 54–57.
- [21] Furzikova, T.M., Sergeichuk, M.G., Sorokulova, I.B. and Smirnov, V.V. (1999) The effect of the cultivation conditions on the properties of bacilli comprising the basis of probiotics. Mikrobiol. Zh. 61, 19–27.
- [22] Furzikova, T.M., Sorokulova, I.B., Serhiichuk, M.H., Sichkar, S.V. and Smirnov, V.V. (2000) The effect of antibiotic preparations and their combinations with probiotics on the intestinal microflora of mice. Mikrobiol. Zh. 62, 26–35.
- [23] Sorokulova, I.B. (1996) Outlook for using bacteria of the genus *Bacillus* for the design of new biopreparations. Antibiot. Khimioter. 41, 13–15.
- [24] Sorokulova, I.B. (1998) Effect of probiotics from bacilli on macrophage functional activity. Antibiot. Khimioter. 43, 20–23.
- [25] Sorokulova, I.B. (1998) The safety and reactogenicity of the new probiotic subalin for volunteers. Mikrobiol. Zh. 60, 43–46.
- [26] Pinchuk, I.V., Bressollier, P., Verneuil, B., Fenet, B., Sorokulova, I.B., Megraud, F. and Urdaci, M.C. (2001) In vitro anti-Helicobacter pylori activity of the probiotic strain Bacillus subtilis 3 is due to secretion of antibiotics. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45, 3156–3161.
- [27] Beliavskaia, V.A., Cherdyntseva, N.V., Bondarenko, V.M. and Litviakov, N.V. (2003) Biological effects of interferon, produced by recombinant bacteria of the probiotic preparation subalin.

- Zh. Mikrobiol. Epidemiol. Immunobiol. (March-April), 102–109.
- [28] Beliavskaia, V.A., Ignat'ev, G.G., Cherdyntseva, N.V. and Litviakov, N.V. (2001) Adjuvant properties of subalin, a recombinant interferon-producing probiotic. Zh. Mikrobiol. Epidemiol. Immunobiol., 77–82.
- [29] Beliavskaia, V.A., Kashperova, T.A., Bondarenko, V.M., Il'ichev, A.A., Sorokulova, I.B. and Malik, N.I. (2001) Experimental evaluation of the biological safety of gene-engineered bacteria using a model strain *Bacillus subtilis* interferon-producing strain. Zh. Mikrobiol. Epidemiol. Immunobiol., 16–20.
- [30] Green, D.H., Wakeley, P.R., Page, A., Barnes, A., Baccigalupi, L., Ricca, E. and Cutting, S.M. (1999) Characterization of two *Bacillus* probiotics. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 4288–4291.
- [31] Lee, K.H., Jun, K.D., Kim, W.S. and Paik, H.D. (2001) Partial characterization of polyfermenticin SCD, a newly identified bacteriocin of *Bacillus polyfermenticus*. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 32, 146–151.
- [32] Inooka, S., Uehara, S. and Kimura, M. (1986) The effect of Bacillus natto on the T and B lymphocytes from spleens of feeding chickens. Poult. Sci. 65, 1217–1219.
- [33] Tsukamoto, Y., Kasai, M. and Kakuda, H. (2001) Construction of a *Bacillus subtilis* (natto) with high productivity of vitamin K2 (menaquinone-7) by analog resistance. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 65, 2007–2015.
- [34] Hosoi, T., Ametani, A., Kiuchi, K. and Kaminogawa, S. (1999) Changes in fecal microflora induced by intubation of mice with *Bacillus subtilis (natto)* spores are dependent upon dietary components. Can. J. Microbiol. 45, 59–66.
- [35] Hosoi, T., Ametani, A., Kiuchi, K. and Kaminogawa, S. (2000) Improved growth and viability of lactobacilli in the presence of *Bacillus subtilis (natto)*, catalase, or subtilisin. Can. J. Microbiol. 46, 892–897.
- [36] Hyronimus, B., Le Marrec, C. and Urdaci, M.C. (1998) Coagulin, a bacteriocin-like inhibitory susbtance produced by *Bacillus coagulans* I<sub>4</sub>. J. Appl. Microbiol. 85, 42–50.
- [37] Meroni, P.L., Palmieri, R., Barcellini, W., De Bartolo, G. and Zanussi, C. (1983) Effect of long-term treatment with *B. subtilis* on the frequency of urinary tract infections in older patients. Chemioterapia 2, 142–144.
- [38] Howarth, F. and Poulter, D. (1997) Avoparcin ban. Vet. Rec. 140, 103–104.
- [39] SCAN (1999) Opinion of of the Scientific Steering Committee on antimicrobial resistance. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. Available from: http://euro-pa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/ssc/out50\_en.pdf.
- [40] Gibson, G.R. and Roberfroid, M.B. (1995) Dietry modulation of the human colonic microbiota: introducing the concept of prebiotics. J. Nutrition 125, 1401.
- [41] SCAN (2001) Report of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on product Toyocerin<sup>®</sup> for use as feed additive. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. Available from: http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out72 en.pdf.
- [42] SCAN (2000) Report of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on product BioPlus 2B<sup>®</sup> for use as feed additive. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. Available from: http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out49 en.pdf
- [43] SCAN (1999) Assessment by the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition (SCAN) of a microorganism product: Esporafeed Plus<sup>®</sup>. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal

- Nutrition. Available from http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out39\_en.pdf.
- [44] Gatesoupe, F.J. (1999) The use of probiotics in aquaculture. Aquaculture 180, 147–165.
- [45] Verschuere, L., Rombaut, G., Sorgeloos, P. and Verstraete, W. (2000) Probiotic bacteria as biological control agents in aquaculture. Mic. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64, 655–671.
- [46] Timmermans, L.P.M. (1987) Early development and differentiation in fish. Sarsia. 72, 331–339.
- [47] Kozasa, M. (1986) Toyocerin (*Bacillus toyoi*) as growth promoter for animal feeding. Microbiol. Aliment. Nutr. 4, 121–135.
- [48] Rengpipat, S., Tunyanun, A., Fast, A.W., Piyatiratitivorakul, S. and Menasveta, P. (2003) Enhanced growth and resistance to *Vibrio* challenge in pond-reared black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* fed a *Bacillus* probiotic. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 55, 169–173
- [49] Nicholson, W.L. (2002) Roles of *Bacillus* endospores in the environment. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 59, 410–416.
- [50] Granum, P.E. (2002) Bacillus cereus and food poisoning In: Applications and Systematics of Bacillus and Relatives (Berkeley, R., Heyndrickx, M., Logan, N.A. and De Vos, P., Eds.), pp. 37–46. Blackwell Science, Oxford.
- [51] Jensen, G.B., Hansen, B.M., Eilenberg, J. and Mahillon, J. (2003) The hidden lifestyles of *Bacillus cereus* and relatives. Environ. Microbiol. 5, 631–640.
- [52] McFarlane, G.T., Cummings, J.H. and Allison, C. (1986) Protein degradation by human intestinal bacteria. J. Gen. Microbiol. 132, 1647–1656.
- [53] Benno, Y., Sawada, K. and Mitsuoka, T. (1984) The intestinal microflora of infants: composition of fecal flora in breast-fed and bottle-fed infants. Microbiol. Immunol. 28, 975–986.
- [54] Benno, Y., Endo, K., Mizutani, T., Namba, Y., Komori, T. and Mitsuoka, T. (1989) Comparison of fecal microflora of elderly persons in rural and urban areas of Japan. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55, 1100–1105.
- [55] Mock, M. and Fouet, A. (2001). Anthrax. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 55, 647–671.
- [56] Granum, P.E. and Lund, T. (1997) Bacillus cereus and its food poisoning toxins. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 157, 223–228.
- [57] Kotiranta, A., Lounatmaa, K. and Haapasalo, M. (2000) Epidemiology and pathogenesis of *Bacillus cereus* infections. Microbes Infect. 2, 189–198.
- [58] Ghosh, A.C. (1978) Prevalence of *Bacillus cereus* in the faeces of healthy adults. J. Hyg. (Lond) 80, 233–236.
- [59] Turnbull, P.C. and Kramer, J.M. (1985) Intestinal carriage of Bacillus cereus: faecal isolation studies in three population groups. J. Hyg. (Lond.) 95, 629–638.
- [60] Jensen, G.B., Larsen, P., Jacobsen, B.L., Madsen, B., Smidt, L. and Andrup, L. (2002) *Bacillus thuringiensis* from greenhouse workers after exposure to *B. thuringiensis*-based pesticides. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 4900–4905.
- [61] Salzman, N.H., de Jong, H., Paterson, Y., Harmsen, H.J.M., Welling, G.W. and Bos, N.A. (2002) Analysis of 16S libraries of mouse gastrointestinal microflora reveals a large new group of mouse intestinal bacteria. Microbiology 148, 3651–3660.
- [62] Ohba, M. and Lee, D.H. (2003) Bacillus thuringiensis associated with faeces of the Kerama-jika, Cervus nippon keramae, a wild deer indigenous to the Ryukyus, Japan. J. Basic Microbiol. 43, 158–162.
- [63] Lee, D.H., Cha, I.H., Woo, D.S. and Ohba, M. (2003) Microbial ecology of *Bacillus thuringiensis*: fecal populations recovered from wildlife in Korea. Can. J. Microbiol. 49, 465–471.
- [64] Angert, E.R. and Losick, R.M. (1998) Propagation by sporulation in the guinea pig symbiont *Metabacterium polyspora*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 10218–10223.
- [65] Sharmila, R., Jawahar Abraham, T. and Sundararaj, V. (1996) Bacterial flora of semi-intensive pond reared *Penaeus indicus*

- (H. Milne Edwards) and the environment. J. Aquaculture Tropics 11, 193–203.
- [66] Feinberg, L., Jorgensen, J., Haselton, A., Pitt, A., Rudner, R. and Margulis, L. (1999) Arthromitus (*Bacillus cereus*) symbionts in the cockroach *Blaberus giganteus*: dietary influences on bacterial development and population density. Symbiosis 27, 109–123.
- [67] Margulis, L., Jorgensen, J.Z., Dolan, S., Kolchinsky, R., Rainey, F.A. and Lo, S.C. (1998) The *Arthromitus* stage of *Bacillus cereus*: intestinal symbionts of animals. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95, 1236–1241.
- [68] Krinsky, W.L. (1976) Animal disease agents transmitted by horse and deer flies (Diptera: Tabanidae). J. Med. Entomol. 13, 225–275.
- [69] Hendriksen, N.B. and Hansen, B.M. (2002) Long-term survival and germination of *Bacillus thuringiensis* var. *kurstaki*: a field trial. Can. J. Microbiol. 48, 256–261.
- [70] Gilliam, M. (1985) Microbes from apiarian sources: *Bacillus* spp. in frass of the greater wax moth. J. Invert. Pathol. 45, 218–224.
- [71] Gilliam, M., Buchmann, S.L. and Lorenz, B.J. (1984) Microbial flora of the larval provisions of the solitary bees, *Centris pallida* and *Anthophora* sp. Apidologie 15, 1–10.
- [72] Gilliam, M., Buchmann, S.L., Lorenz, B.J. and Schmalzel, R.J. (1990) Bacteria belonging to the genus *Bacillus* associated with three species of solitary bees. Apidologie 21, 99–106.
- [73] Gilliam, M., Roubik, D.W. and Lorenz, B.J. (1990) Microorganisms associated with pollen, honey, and brood provisions in the nest of a stingless bee, *Melipona fasciata*. Apidologie 21, 89– 98
- [74] Hornitzky, M., Oldroyd, B.P. and Somerville, D. (1996) Bacillus larvae carrier status of swarms and feral colonies of honeybees (Apis mellifera) in Australia. Aust. Vet. J. 73, 116–117.
- [75] Harrison, H., Patel, R. and Yousten, A.A. (2000) Paenibacillus associated with milky disease in Central and South American scarabs. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 76, 169–175.
- [76] Klijn, N., Weerkamp, A.H. and de Vos, W.M. (1995) Genetic marking of *Lactococcus lactis* shows its survival in the human gastrointestinal tract. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61, 2771–2774.
- [77] Vesa, T., Pochart, P. and Marteau, P. (2000) Pharmacokinetics of Lactobacillus plantarum NCIMB 8826, Lactobacillus fermentum KLD, and Lactococcus lactis MG 1363 in the human gastrointestinal tract. Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther. 14, 823–828.
- [78] Graff, J., Brinch, K. and Madsen, J.L. (2001) Gastrointestinal mean transit times in young and middle-aged healthy subjects. Clin. Physiol. 21, 253–259.
- [79] Kyu-Yong, P., Jung, H.-Y., Woo, K.-l., Jun, K.-D., Kang, J.-S. and Paik, H.-Y. (2002) Impact of *Bacillus polyfermenticus* SCD administration on fecal microflora and putrefactive metabolites in healthy adults. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 12, 657–663.
- [80] Biourge, V., Vallet, C., Levesque, A., Sergheraert, R., Chevalier, S. and Roberton, J.L. (1998) The use of probiotics in the diet of dogs. J. Nutr. 128, 2730S–2732S.
- [81] Hisanga, S. (1980) Studies on the germination of genus *Bacillus* spores in rabbit and canine intestines. J. Nagoya City Medical Assoc. 30, 456–469.
- [82] Youngman, P., Perkins, J. and Losick, R. (1984) Construction of a cloning site near one end of Tn917 into which foreign DNA may be inserted without affecting transposition in *Bacillus* subtilis or expression of the transposon-borne erm gene. Plasmid 12, 1–9.
- [83] Hoa, T.T., Duc, L.H., Isticato, R., Baccigalupi, L., Ricca, E., Van, P.H. and Cutting, S.M. (2001) Fate and dissemination of *Bacillus subtilis* spores in a murine model. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 3819–3823.
- [84] Nakano, M.M. and Zuber, P. (1998) Anaerobic growth of a strict aerobe (*Bacillus subtilis*). Ann. Rev. Microbiol. 52, 165– 190.

- [85] Jadamus, A., Vahjen, W. and Simon, O. (2001) Growth behaviour of a spore forming probiotic strain in the gastrointestinal tract of broiler chicken and piglets. Arch. Tierernahr. 54, 1–17
- [86] Jadamus, A., Vahjen, W., Schafer, K. and Simon, O. (2002) Influence of the probiotic strain *Bacillus cereus* var. *toyoi* on the development of enterobacterial growth and on selected parameters of bacterial metabolism in digesta samples of piglets. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl) 86, 42–54.
- [87] Casula, G. and Cutting, S.M. (2002) *Bacillus* probiotics: spore germination in the gastrointestinal tract. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 2344–2352.
- [88] Hyronimus, B., Le Marrec, C., Sassi, A.H. and Deschamps, A. (2000) Acid and bile tolerance of spore-forming lactic acid bacteria. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 61, 193–197.
- [89] Duc, L.H., Hong, H.A. and Cutting, S.M. (2003) Germination of the spore in the gastrointestinal tract provides a novel route for heterologous antigen presentation. Vaccine 21, 4215–4224.
- [90] Faille, C., Membre, J., Kubaczka, M. and Gavini, F. (2002) Altered ability of *Bacillus cereus* spores to grow under unfavorable conditions (presence of nisin, low temperature, acidic pH, presence of NaCl) following heat treatment during sporulation. J. Food Prot. 65, 1930–1936.
- [91] Keynan, A. and Evenchik, Z. (1969) Activation In: The Bacterial Spore (Gould, G.W. and Hurst, A., Eds.), pp. 359–396. Academic Press, London.
- [92] La Ragione, R.M., Casula, G., Cutting, S.M. and Woodward, M. (2001) *Bacillus subtilis* spores competitively exclude *Escherichia coli* 070:K80 in poultry. Vet. Microbiol. 79, 133–142.
- [93] La Ragione, R.M. and Woodward, M.J. (2003) Competitive exclusion by *Bacillus subtilis* spores of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Enteritidis and *Clostridium perfringens* in young chickens. Vet. Microbiol. 94, 245–256.
- [94] Sleyter, U.B., Messner, P., Pum, D. and Sara, M. (1993) Crystalline bacterial cell surface layers. Mol. Microbiol. 10, 911– 916
- [95] Sidhu, M.S. and Olsen, I. (1997) S-layers of *Bacillus* species. Microbiology 143, 1039–1052.
- [96] Sousa, J.C.F., Silva, M.T. and Balassa, G. (1976) An exosporium-like outer layer in *Bacillus subtilis* spores. Nature 263, 53–54.
- [97] Charlton, S., Moir, A.J., Baillie, L.W.J. and Moir, A. (1999) Characterisation of the exosporium of *Bacillus cereus*. J. Appl. Microbiol. 87, 241–245.
- [98] Hachisuka, Y., Kozuka, S. and Tsujikawa, M. (1984) Exosporia and appendages of spores of *Bacillus* species. Microbiol. Immunol. 28, 619–624.
- [99] Kosuka, S. and Tochikubo, K. (1985) Properties and origin of filamentous appendages on spores of *Bacillus cereus*. Microbiol. Immunol. 29, 21–37.
- [100] Desrosier, J.P. and Lara, J.C. (1981) Isolation and properties of pili from spores of *Bacillus cereus*. J. Bacteriol. 145, 613–619.
- [101] Smirnova, T.A., Kulinich, L.I., Galperin, M.Y. and Azizbekyan, R.R. (1991) Subspecies-specific haemagglutination patterns of fimbriated *Bacillus thuringiensis* spores. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 69, 1–4.
- [102] Hachisuka, Y. and Kuno, T. (1976) Filamentous appendages of Bacillus cereus spores. Jpn. J. Microbiol. 20, 555–558.
- [103] Barbosa, T.M., Serra, C.R., La Ragione, R.M., Woodward, M.J. and Henriques, A.O. (in press). Isolation and characterization of *Bacillus* strains associated with the gastrointestinal tract of poultry. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.
- [104] Ronner, U., Husmark, U. and Henriksson, A. (1990) Adhesion of *Bacillus* spores in relation to hydrophobicity. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 69, 550-556.
- [105] Andersson, A., Granum, P.E. and Ronner, U. (1998) The adhesion of *Bacillus cereus* spores to epithelial cells might be an

- additional virulence mechanism. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 39, 93–99.
- [106] Probert, H.M. and Gibson, G.R. (2002) Bacterial biofilms in the human gastrointestinal tract. Curr. Issues Intest. Microbiol. 3, 23–27.
- [107] Palestrant, D., Holzknecht, Z.E., Collins, B.H., Parker, W., Miller, S.E. and Bollinger, R.R. (2004) Microbial biofilms in the gut: visulalization by electron microscopy and by acridine orange staining. Ultrastruct. Pathol. 28, 23–27.
- [108] Mendelson, N.H. (1999) Bacillus subtilis macrofibres, colonies and bioconvection patterns use different strategies to achieve multicellular organization. Environ. Micribiol. 1, 471–477.
- [109] Branda, S.S., Gonzalez-Pastor, J.E., Ben-Yehuda, S., Losick, R. and Kolter, R. (2001) Fruiting body formation by *Bacillus subtilis*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 11621–11626.
- [110] Duc, L.H., Hong, H.A., Fairweather, N., Ricca, E. and Cutting, S.M. (2003) Bacterial spores as vaccine vehicles. Infect. Immunol. 71, 2810–2818.
- [111] Duc, L.H., Hong, H.A., Uyen, N.Q. and Cutting, S.M. (2004) Intracellular fate and immunogenicity of *B. subtilis* spores. Vaccine 22, 1873–1885.
- [112] Guidi-Rontani, C., Weber-Levy, M., Labruyere, E. and Mock, M. (1999) Germination of *Bacillus anthracis* spores within alveolar macrophages. Mol. Microbiol. 31, 9–17.
- [113] Dixon, T.C., Fadi, A.A., Koehler, T.M., Swanson, J.A. and Hanna, P.C. (2000) Early *Bacillus anthracis*-macrophage interactions: intracellular survival and escape. Cell. Microbiol. 2, 453–463
- [114] Welkos, S., Little, S., Friedlander, A., Fritz, D. and Fellows, P. (2001) The role of antibodies to *Bacillus anthracis* and anthrax toxin components in inhibiting the early stages of infection by anthrax spores. Microbiol. 147, 1677–1685.
- [115] Setlow, P. (2003) Spore germination. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 6, 550–556.
- [116] Mohan, J.C., Arora, R. and Khalilullah, M. (1990) Preliminary observations on the effect of *Lactobacillus sporogenes* on serum lipid levels in hypercholesteromic patients. Indian J. Med. Res. 92, 431–432.
- [117] La Rosa, M., Bottaro, G., Gulino, N., Gambuzza, F., Di Forti, F., Ini, G. and Tornambe, E. (2003) Prevention of antibioticassociated diarrhea with *Lactobacillus sporogenes* and fructooligosaccharides in children. Minerva Pediatr. 55, 447–452.
- [118] Samanya, M. and Yamauchi, K.E. (2002) Histological alterations of intestinal villi in chickens fed dried *Bacillus subtilis* var. *natto*. Comparative Biochem. Physiol. Part A: Mol. Integrative Physiol. 133, 95–104.
- [119] Endo, T., Nakano, M., Shimizu, S., Fukushima, M. and Miyoshi, S. (1999) Effects of a probiotic on the lipid metabolism of cocks fed on a cholesterol-enriched diet. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 63, 1569–1575.
- [120] Kirchgessner, M., Roth, F.X., Eidelsburger, U. and Gedek, B. (1993) The nutritive efficiency of *Bacillus cereus* as a probiotic in the raising of piglets. 1. Effect on the growth parameters and gastrointestinal environment. Arch. Tierernaher. 44, 111–121.
- [121] Preston, R.A. and Douthit, H.A. (1984) Stimulation of germination of unactivated *Bacillus cereus* spores by ammonia. J. Gen. Microbiol. 130, 1041–1050.
- [122] Homma, H. and Shinohara, T. (2004) Effects of probiotic *Bacillus cereus toyoi* on abdominal fat accumulation in the Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*). Anim. Sci. J. 75, 37–41.
- [123] Alexopoulos, C., Karagiannidis, A., Kritas, S.K., Boscos, C., Georgoulakis, I.E. and Kyriakis, S.C. (2001) Field evaluation of a bioregulator containing live *Bacillus cereus* spores on health status and performance of sows and their litters. J. Vet. Med. A Physiol. Pathol. Clin. Med. 48, 137–145.
- [124] Kyriakis, S.C., Tsiloyiannis, V.K., Vlemmas, J., Sarris, K., Tsinas, A.C., Alexopoulos, C. and Jansegers, L. (1999) The effect

- of probiotic LSP 122 on the control of post-weaning diarrhoea syndrome of piglets. Res. Vet. Sci. 67, 223–228.
- [125] Cupere, F.D., Deprez, P., Demeulenare, D. and Muylle, E. (1992) Evaluation of the effect of 3 probiotics on experimental *Escherichia coli* enterotoxaemia in weaned piglets. J. Vet. Microbiol. 39, 277–284.
- [126] Jenny, B.F., Vandijk, H.J. and Collins, J.A. (1991) Performance and fecal flora of calves fed a *Bacillus subtilis* concentrate. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 1968–1973.
- [127] Queiroz, J.F. and Boyd, C.E. (1998) Effects of a bacterial inoculum in channel catfish ponds. J. World Aqaculture 29, 67– 73
- [128] Kennedy, S.B., Tucker, J.W., Neidig, C.L., Vermeer, G.K., Cooper, V.R., Jarrell, J.L. and Sennett, D.G. (1998) Bacterial management strategies for stock enhancement of warm water marine fish: a case study with common snook (*Centropomus undecimalis*). Bull. Mar. Sci. 62, 573–588.
- [129] Moriarty, D.J.W. (1998) Control of luminous *Vibrio* species in penaeid aquaculture ponds. Aquaculture 164, 351–358.
- [130] Vaseeharan, B. and Ramasamy, P. (2003) Control of pathogenic Vibrio spp. by Bacillus subtilis BT23, a possible probiotic treatment for black tiger shrimp Penaeus monodon. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 36, 83–87.
- [131] Rengpipat, S., Phianphak, W., Piyatiratitivorakul, S. and Menasveta, P. (1998) Effects of a probiotic bacterium on black tiger shrimp *Penaeus monodon* survival and growth. Aquaculture 167, 301–313.
- [132] Rengpipat, S., Rukpratanporn, S., Piyatiratitivorakul, S. and Menasaveta, P. (2000) Immunity enhancement in black tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*) by a probiont bacterium (*Bacillus S11*). Aquaculture 191, 271–288.
- [133] Robinson, K., Chamberlain, L.M., Schofield, K.M., Wells, J.M. and Le Page, R.W.F. (1997) Oral vaccination of mice against tetanus with recombinant *Lactococcus lactis*. Nat. Biotechnol. 15, 653–657.
- [134] Roberts, M., Li, J., Bacon, A. and Chatfield, S. (1998) Oral vaccination against tetanus: comparison of the immunogenicities of *Salmonella* strains expressing fragment C from the *nirA* and *htrA* promoters. Infect. Immunol. 66, 3080–3087.
- [135] Isaka, M. et al. (2001) Mucosal immunization against hepatitis B virus by intranasal co-administration of recombinant hepatitis B surface antigen and recombinant cholera toxin B subunit as an adjuvant. Vaccine 19, 1460–1466.
- [136] VanCott, J.L. et al. (1996) Regulation of mucosal and systemic antibody responses by T helper cell subsets, macrophages, and derived cytokines following or al immunisation with live recombinant *Salmonella*. J. Immunol. 156, 1504– 1514
- [137] Balloul, J.-M., Grzych, J.-M., Pierce, R.J. and Capron, A. (1987) A purified 28,000 dalton protein from *Schistosoma mansoni* adult worms protects rats and mice against experimental schistosomiasis. J. Immunol. 138, 3448–3453.
- [138] Kosak, T., Maeda, T., Nakada, Y., Yukawa, M. and Tanaka, S. (1998) Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* spore administration on activation of macrophages and natural killer cells in mice. Vet. Microbiol. 60, 215–225.
- [139] Muscettola, M., Grasso, G., Migliaccio, P. and Gallo, V.C. (1991) Plasma interferon-like activity in rabbits after oral administration of *Bacillus subtilis* spores. J. Chemother. 3, 130–132.
- [140] Muscettola, M., Grasso, G., Blach-Olszewska, Z., Migliaccio, P., Borghesi-Nicoletti, C., Giarratan, M. and Gallo, V.C. (1992) Effects of *Bacillus subtilis* spores on interferon production. Pharmacol. Res. 26, 176–177.
- [141] Urdaci, M.C., Bressollier, P. and Pinchuk, I. (2004) Bacillus clausii probiotic strains: antimicrobial and immunomodulatory activities. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 38, S86–S90.

- [142] Lawrence, C. and Nauciel, C. (1998) Production of interleukin-12 by murine macrophages in response to bacterial peptidoglycan. Infect. Immunol. 66, 4947–4949.
- [143] Ciprandi, G., Scordamaglia, A., Venuti, D., Caria, M. and Canonica, G.W. (1986) In vitro effects of *Bacillus subtilis* on the immune response. Chemioterapia 5, 404–407.
- [144] Prokesova, L., Novakova, M., Julak, J. and Mara, M. (1994) Effect of *Bacillus firmus* and other sporulating aerobic microorganisms on in vitro stimulation of human lymphocytes. A comparative study. Folia Microbiol. 39, 501–504.
- [145] Fiorini, G., Cimminiello, C., Chianese, R., Visconti, G.P., Cova, D., Uberti, T. and Gibelli, A. (1985) *Bacillus subtilis* selectively stimulates the synthesis of membrane bound and secreted IgA. Chemioterapia 4, 310–312.
- [146] Rhee, K.J., Sethupathi, P., Driks, A., Lanning, D.K. and Knight, K.L. (2004) Role of commensal bacteria in development of gut-associated lymphoid tissues and preimmune antibody repertoire. J. Immunol. 172, 1118–1124.
- [147] Sartor, R.B. (1996) Cytokine regulation of experimental intestinal inflammation in genetically engineered and T-lymphocyte reconstituted rodents. Aliment. Pharmacol. Therap. 10, 36–42.
- [148] Smith, V.J. and Chisholm, J.R.S. (1992) Non-cellular immunity in crustaceans. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2, 1–31.
- [149] Ratcliffe, N.A., Rowley, A.F., Fitzgerald, S.W. and Rhodes, C.P. (1985) Invertebrate immunity: basic concepts and recent advances. Int. Rev. Cytol. 97, 183–350.
- [150] Itami, T. et al. (1998) Enhancement of disease resistance of Kuruma shrimp, *Penaeus japonicus*, after oral administration of peptidoglycan from *Bifidobacterium thermophilum*. Aquaculture 164, 277–288.
- [151] Urdaci, M.C. and Pinchuk, I. (2004) Antimicrobial activity of Bacillus probiotics In: Bacterial spore formers: probiotics and emerging applications (Ricca, E., Henriques, A.O. and Cutting, S.M., Eds.), pp. 171–182. Horizon Bioscience.
- [152] Ozawa, K., Yagu-Uchi, K., Yamanaka, K., Yamashita, Y., Ueba, K. and Miwatani, T. (1979) Bacillus natto and Streptococcus faecalis on growth of Candida albicans. Microbiol. Immunol. 23, 1147–1156.
- [153] Nagal, S., Okimura, K., Kaizawa, N., Ohki, K. and Kanatomo, S. (1996) Study on surfactin, a cyclic depsipeptide. II. Synthesis of surfactin B2 produced by *Bacillus natto* KMD 2311. Chem. Phar. Bull. Tokyo 44, 5–10.
- [154] Nurmi, E.V. and Rantala, M. (1973) New species of Salmonella infection in broiler production. Nature 241, 210.
- [155] Fuller, R. (1991) Probiotics in human medicine. Gut. 32, 439-
- [156] Fukushima, M., Yamada, A., Endo, T. and Nakano, M. (1999) Effects of a mixture of organisms, Lactobacillus acidophilus or Streptococcus faecalis on delta-6-desaturase activity in the livers of rats fed a fat- and cholesterol-enriched diet. Nutrition 15, 373– 378
- [157] Caldini, G., Trotta, F. and Cenci, G. (2002) Inhibition of 4nitroquinoline-1-oxide genotoxicity by *Bacillus* strains. Res. Microbiol. 153, 165–171.
- [158] Guarner, F. and Malagelada, J.-R. (2003) Gut flora in health and disease. The Lancet 360, 512–519.
- [159] Maruta, K., Miyazaki, H., Masuda, S., Takahashi, M., Marubashi, T., Tadano, Y. and Takahashi, H. (1996) Exclusion of intestinal pathogens by continuous feeding with *Bacillus subtilis* C-3012 and its influence on the intestinal microflora in broilers. Anim. Sci. Technol. 67, 273–280.
- [160] de Boer, A.S. and Diderichsen, B. (1991) On the safety of Bacillus subtilis and B. amyloliquefaciens: a review. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36, 1–4.
- [161] Rowan, N.J., Deans, K., Anderson, J.G., Gemmell, C.G., Hunter, I.S. and Chaithong, T. (2001) Putative Virulence Factor Expression by Clinical and Food Isolates of *Bacillus* spp. after

- Growth in Reconstituted Infant Milk Formulae. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 3873–3881.
- [162] Jensen, G.B., Larsen, P., Jacobsen, B.L., Madsen, B., Wilcks, A., Smidt, L. and Andrup, L. (2002) Isolation and characterization of *Bacillus cereus*-like bacteria from faecal samples from greenhouse workers who are using *Bacillus thuringiensis*-based insecticides. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health. 75, 191–196.
- [163] Phelps, R.J. and McKillip, J.L. (2002) Enterotoxin production in natural isolates of Bacillaceae outside the *Bacillus cereus* group. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 3147–3151.
- [164] Mikkola, R., Kolari, M., Andersson, M.A., Helin, J. and Salkinoja-Salonen, M.S. (2000) Toxic lactonic lipopeptide from food poisoning isolates of *Bacillus licheniformis*. Eur. J. Biochem. 267, 4068–4074.
- [165] Kramer, J.M. and Gilbert, R.J. (1989) Bacillus cereus and other Bacillus species In: Foodborne Bacterial Pathogens (Doyle, M.P., Ed.), pp. 21–70. Dekker, New York.
- [166] Kniehl, E., Becker, A. and Forster, D.H. (2003) Pseudooutbreak of toxigenic *Bacillus cereus* isolated from stools of three patients with diarrhoea after oral administration of a probiotic medication. J. Hosp. Infect. 55, 33–38.
- [167] SCAN (2003) Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition, on the criteria for assessing the safety of microorganisms resistant to antibiotics of human clinical and veterinary importance. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/ scan/out108\_en.pdf (2003).
- [168] Stevens, A.M., Shoemaker, N.B. and Salyers, A.A. (1990) Genes on a *Bacteriodes* conjugal tetracycline resistance element which mediate production of plasmid-like forms from unlinked chromosomal DNA may be involved in transfer of the resistance element. J. Bacteriol. 172, 4271–4279.
- [169] Showsh, S.A. and Andrews, R.E. (1992) Tetracycline enhances Tn916-mediated conjugal transfer. Plasmid 28, 213–224.
- [170] Mullany, P., Barbosa, T.M., Scott, K. and Roberts, A.P. (2004) Mechanisms of gene transfer and the spread of antibiotic resistance in spore forming organisms in the GI tract In: Bacterial spore formers: probiotics and emerging applications (Ricca, E., Henriques, A.O. and Cutting, S.M., Eds.), pp. 113– 129. Horizon Bioscience.
- [171] Bozdogan, B., Galopin, S. and Leclereq, R. (2004) Characterization of a new *erm*-related macrolide resistance gene present in probiotic strains of *Bacillus clausii*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 280–284.
- [172] Roberts, M.C., Sutcliffe, J., Courvail, P., Jensen, L.B., Rood, J.I. and Seppala, H. (1999) Nomenclature for macrolide and macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin B resistance determinants. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 43, 2823–2830.
- [173] Monod, M., Denoya, C. and Dubnau, D. (1986) Sequence and properties of pIM13, a macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin B resistance plasmid from *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 167, 138– 147.
- [174] Bernhard, K., Schrempf, H. and Goebel, W. (1978) Bacteriocin and antibiotic resistance plasmids in *Bacillus cereus* and *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 133, 897–903.
- [175] Ligozzi, M., Lo Cascio, G. and Fontana, R. (1998) vanA gene cluster in a vancomycin-resistant clinical isolate of *Bacillus* circulans. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 42, 2055–2059.
- [176] Rippere, K., Patel, R., Uhl, J.R., Piper, K.E., Steckelberg, J.M., Kline, B.C., Cockerill, F.R. and Yousten, A.A. (1998) DNA sequence resembling *vanA* and *vanB* in the vancomycin-resistant biopesticide *Bacillus popillae*. J. Infect. Dis. 178, 584–588.
- [177] SCAN (2002) Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition (SCAN) on the use of *Bacillus licheniformis* NCTC 13123 in feedingstuffs for pigs (product AlCare™). European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-

- General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. Available from http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out79 en.pdf (2002).
- [178] Hamilton-Miller, J.M.T., Shah, S. and Winkler, J.T. (1999) Public health issues arising from microbiological and labelling quality of foods and supplements containing probiotic microorganisms. Public Health Nutr. 2, 223–229.
- [179] Fasoli, S., Marzotto, M., Rizzotti, L., Rossi, F., Dellaglio, F. and Torriani, S. (2003) Bacterial composition of commercial probiotic products as evaluated by PCR-DGGE analysis. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 82, 59–70.
- [180] FAO/WHO (2002) Joint FAO/WHO (Food and Agriculture Organization/World Health Organization) working group report on drafting guidelines for the evaluation of probiotics in food. Available from: ftp://ftp.fao.org/es/esn/food/probio\_report\_en.pdf (2002).
- [181] Reid, G. et al. (2003) New scientific paradigms for probiotics and prebiotics. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 37, 105–118.

- [182] Sorokulova, I.B., Kirik, D.L. and Pinchuk, I.I. (1997) Probiotics against campylobacter pathogens. J. Travel Med. 4, 167–170
- [183] Sorokulova, I.B., Beliavskaia, V.A., Masycheva, V.A. and Smirnov, V.V. (1997) Recombinant probiotics: problems and prospects of their use for medicine and veterinary practice. Vestn. Ross. Akad. Med. Nauk., 46–49.
- [184] Bozdogan, B., Galopin, S., Gerbaud, G., Courvalin, P. and Leclercq, R. (2003) Chromosomal *aadD* 2 encodes an aminoglycoside nucleotidyltransferase in *Bacillus clausii*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 47, 1343–1346.
- [185] SCAN (1999) Assessment by the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition (SCAN) of a microorganism product: Neoferm BS-10<sup>®</sup>. European Commission, Health and Consumer Protection Directorate-General. (SCAN) Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition. Available from: http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out28\_en.pdf (1999).